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DIRECTORS’ STATEMENT 
 
 
The Directors of Nam Cheong Limited (the “Company”) present their statement to the members together with the audited 
consolidated financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the financial year ended 31 
December 2017 and the statement of financial position of the Company as at 31 December 2017. 
 
 
1. Opinion of the Directors 

 
In the opinion of the Board of Directors, 
 
(a) the consolidated financial statements of the Group and the statement of financial position of the Company 

together with notes thereon are drawn up so as to give a true and fair view of the financial position of the 
Group and of the Company as at 31 December 2017, and the financial performance, changes in equity and cash 
flows of the Group for the financial year then ended; and 
 

(b) at the date of this statement, after considering the matters as described in Note 4 to the financial statements 
with respect to the Group’s and the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, there are reasonable 
grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they fall due if the plans can 
be successfully implemented. 

 
 

2. Directors 
 
The Directors of the Company in office at the date of this statement are as follows: 
 
Tan Sri Datuk Tiong Su Kouk Executive Chairman 
Tiong Chiong Hiiung Executive Vice Chairman  
Leong Seng Keat Chief Executive Officer 
Ajaib Hari Dass  Lead Independent Director 
Yee Kit Hong  Independent Director 
Kan Yut Keong, Benjamin Independent Director 
 
In accordance with Bye-Law 86(1) of the Company’s Bye-Laws, Tan Sri Datuk Tiong Su Kouk and Ajaib Hari Dass retire 
and being eligible, offer themselves for re-election. 
 
 

3. Arrangements to enable Directors to acquire shares and debentures 
 
Except as disclosed under the “Share Plans” section of this statement, neither at the end of, nor at any time during 
the financial year, was the Company a party to any arrangement whose objects are, or one of whose objects is, to 
enable the Directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the 
Company or any other body corporate. 
 
 

4. Directors’ interests in shares and debentures 
 
The following Directors, who held office at the end of the financial year, had interests in shares in the Company 
(other than wholly-owned subsidiaries) as stated below: 
 

 Number of ordinary shares of HK0.10 each (2016: HK0.50 each) 

 Direct interest Deemed interest 

 

At the
beginning

of the
financial

year

At
the end

of the
financial

year

At
21 January

2018

At the
beginning

of the
financial

year

At 
the end 

of the 
financial 

year 

At
21 January

2018
Ordinary shares of the 
Company  

Tan Sri Datuk Tiong Su Kouk 104,936,517 104,936,517 104,936,517 969,768,115 969,768,115 969,768,115

Tiong Chiong Hiiung 14,259,240 14,259,240 14,259,240 9,629,881 9,629,881 9,629,881

Leong Seng Keat 15,833,890 16,815,790 16,815,790 81,815,987 75,886,187 75,886,187
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4. Directors’ interests in shares and debentures (Continued) 

 
Except as disclosed in this statement, no Director of the Company who held office at the end of the financial year had 
interests in shares, share options, warrants or debentures of the Company, or of related corporations, either at the 
beginning of the financial year, or date of appointment if later, or at the end of the financial year. 
 
 

5. Share plans 
 
Pursuant to a resolution passed in the special general meeting on 29 April 2013, the Nam Cheong Group 2013 Share 
Grant Plan (“2013 Plan”) was established. 
 
The 2013 Plan is administered by the Remuneration Committee. The committee members are duly authorised and 
appointed by the Board of Directors. The members of the Remuneration Committee as at the date of the statement 
are Mr Ajaib Hari Dass, Mr Yee Kit Hong and Mr Kan Yut Keong, Benjamin. 
 
The salient features of the 2013 Plan is as follows: 
 

The 2013 Plan is a share incentive plan. 
The 2013 Plan is proposed on the basis that it is important to retain key employees whose contributions are 
essential to the Company’s long-term growth and profitability. 
The 2013 Plan will give Participants an opportunity to have a personal equity interest in the Company and will 
help to achieve better and long-term performance. 
 

The purpose of adopting the 2013 Plan is to align the interests of Directors, employees, especially key executives, with 
the interests of Shareholders. 
 
(i) Eligibility 

 
The eligibility of Group Participant to participate in the 2013 Plan shall be at the absolute discretion of the 
Committee, which would be exercised judiciously. In addition, such person must: 
 
(a) be confirmed full-time employees of the Group who have attained the age of 21 years on or before the 

Grant Date; and 
(b) Directors of any member of the Group who perform an executive function. 
 
For the avoidance of doubt, persons who are Controlling Shareholders and their Associates shall not be 
eligible to participate in the 2013 Plan. 
 
There shall be no restriction on the eligibility of any Participant to participate in any other share option 
schemes or share award schemes implemented or to be implemented by the Group Companies. 
 

(ii) Grant of Awards 
 
Awards may be granted at any time during the period when the 2013 Plan is in force. The selection of a 
Participant and the quantum of the Award shall be determined at the absolute discretion of the Committee. 
Awards shall be time-based and/or performance-based and released in tranches over such number of years 
as may be determined by the Committee in its absolute discretion. 
 
Awards are personal to the selected Participant and shall not be transferred, assigned, charged, pledged or 
otherwise disposed of, in whole or in part, unless with the approval of the Committee. 
 
Awards are granted to the Participants in consideration for their performance and contribution to the 
Company.  
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5. Share plans (Continued) 

 
(iii) Size and duration 

 
The 2013 Plan shall continue to be in force at the discretion of the Committee, subject to a maximum period of 
ten years commencing on the date on which the 2013 Plan is adopted by the Company in general meeting, 
provided always that the 2013 Plan may continue beyond the above stipulated period with the approval of 
the Shareholders by ordinary resolution in general meeting and of any relevant authorities which may then 
be required. 
 
The 2013 Plan may be terminated at any time by the Committee or by resolution of the Company in general 
meeting, subject to all relevant approvals which may be required, and if the 2013 Plan is terminated, no 
further grants of Shares shall be made by the Company. 
 
Notwithstanding the expiry or termination of the 2013 Plan, any Awards which have been granted in 
accordance with the 2013 Plan will continue to remain valid. 
 
The total number of Shares (and cash equivalents) to be issued and/or transferred under the 2013 Plan and 
any other share-based incentive schemes of the Company will be subject to a maximum limit of 10 per cent 
(10%) of the Company's total issued Shares (excluding treasury shares) from time to time. Such limit will be 
subject to a further annual grant sub-limit of 1 per cent (1%) per annum on a cumulative basis. Any unutilised 
per centum of the annual grant sub-limits shall be available for roll-over and aggregated with the applicable 
annual grant sub-limits for the subsequent years. 
 

(iv) Events prior to vesting 
 
An Award, to the extent not yet released, shall forthwith become void and cease to have effect on the 
occurrence of any of the following events: 
 
(a) a Participant, ceasing for any reason whatsoever (including but not limited to retirement, 

redundancy, ill health, injury, disability or death), to be in the employment of the Group or in the 
event the Company by which the Participant is employed ceases to be a company in the Group; 

(b) upon the bankruptcy of the Participant or the happening of any other event which results in him 
being deprived of the legal or beneficial ownership of or interest in such Award; 

(c) a Participant commits any breach of any of the terms of his Award; 
(d) misconduct on the part of a Participant as determined by the Committee in its discretion; and/or 
(e) a take-over, winding-up or reconstruction of the Company. 
 

In the previous financial years, the conditional shares awarded under the 2013 Plan to the selected management staff 
were fully released in 2015. No rewards are granted to any participants during the financial year. 
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6. Audit committee 

 
The audit committee of the Company is chaired by Yee Kit Hong, and includes Ajaib Hari Dass and Kan Yut Keong, 
Benjamin, who are independent directors. The audit committee has met four times since the last Annual General 
Meeting (AGM) and has carried out its functions in accordance with the Singapore Listing Manual and the Code of 
Corporate Governance, including reviewing the following, where relevant, with the executive Directors and external 
and internal auditors of the Company: 
 
(a) the audit plans of the internal and external auditors and the results of the auditors’ examination and 

evaluation of the Group’s systems of internal accounting controls; 
(b) the Company’s and the Group’s financial and operating results and accounting policies; 
(c) the statement of financial position of the Company and the consolidated financial statements of the Group and 

external auditors’ report on those financial statements before their submission to the Directors of the Company; 
(d) the quarterly, half-yearly and annual announcements as well as the related press releases on the results and 

financial position of the Company and the Group; 
(e) the co-operation and assistance given by the management to the Company’s internal and external auditor; 
(f) the re-appointment of the external auditor of the Company; 
(g) the adequacy of the Group’s risk management process and internal controls, including financial, operational, 

compliance and information technology controls; 
(h) interested person transactions; and 
(i) the whistle blowing policy. 
 
The audit committee has full access to and has the co-operation of the management and has been given the 
resources required for it to discharge its function properly. It also has full discretion to invite any Director and 
executive officer to attend its meetings. The external and internal auditors have unrestricted access to the audit 
committee. 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

On behalf of the Board of Directors 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
    
Tan Sri Datuk Tiong Su Kouk Leong Seng Keat 
Director Director 
 
 
Singapore 
17 July 2018 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
 
To the Members of Nam Cheong Limited 
 
 
 
Disclaimer of Opinion 
 
We were engaged to audit the financial statements of Nam 
Cheong Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the 
“Group”) as set out on pages 53 to 132, which comprise:  
 

the consolidated statement of financial position of 
the Group and the statement of financial position of 
the Company as at 31 December 2017;  

the consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income, consolidated statement of changes in equity, 
and consolidated statement of cash flows of the 
Group for the financial year then ended; and  

notes to the financial statements, including a 
summary of significant accounting policies.  

 

 
We do not express an opinion on the 
accompanying consolidated financial statements of 
the Group and the statement of financial position 
of the Company. Because of the significance of the 
matter described in the Basis for Disclaimer of 
Opinion section of our report, we have not been 
able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit 
evidence to provide a basis for an audit opinion on 
these financial statements. 
 
 

 
Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion 
 
Going concern 
 
As disclosed in Note 4 to the financial statements, the Group has various obligations owed to bank lenders and 
trade creditors that have fallen due and will fall due from time to time in the near future. These obligations 
include the Group’s loan and borrowings amounted to RM1,639,247,000 and amount payables to shipyards of 
RM1,051,012,000 that are included in the Group’s trade payables exceeded the Group’s cash and bank balances 
and fixed deposits of RM224,417,000 as at 31 December 2017. In addition, the Group and the Company are in net 
capital deficit of RM1,660,411,000 and RM1,577,803,000 respectively as at 31 December 2017. 
 
The accompanying financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, the validity of which is 
premised on a key assumption that favourable outcomes will be collectively achieved for the Schemes of 
Arrangement, the Master Framework Agreement entered with certain shipyards, negotiations with other 
shipyards and that sufficient cash inflows will be generated by the Group. Based on the cash flow forecast 
prepared by management for the next 18 months from the financial year end, the Group would not have 
sufficient cash flows to meet their debt obligations should any of the key assumptions further discussed in Note 
4 fail to materialise as envisaged.  
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Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion (Continued) 
 
Going concern (Continued) 
 
These conditions, together with other matters disclosed in Note 4 to the financial statements, indicate the 
existence of material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s and Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern. 
 
We were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to satisfy ourselves on certain key assumptions 
supporting the cash flow forecast. In particular, we were unable to evaluate the validity, feasibility and 
effectiveness of the debt settlement arrangement with the other shipyards as we were not provided with 
supporting documents to corroborate management’s representation on the terms of the arrangement and status 
of the negotiations.  
 
Consequently, we were unable to conclude whether the use of going concern basis in the preparation of these 
accompanying financial statements is appropriate. If the Group and the Company are unable to continue in 
operational existence for the foreseeable future, the Group and the Company may be unable to discharge their 
liabilities in the normal course of business and adjustments may have to be made to reflect the situation that 
assets may need to be realised in a manner other than in the normal course of business and at amounts which 
could differ significantly from the amounts at which they are currently recorded in the statements of financial 
position. In addition, the Group and the Company may need to reclassify non-current assets and liabilities to 
current assets and liabilities. No such adjustments have been made to the accompanying financial statements. 
 

 
Responsibilities of Management and Directors for the Financial Statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management 
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue 
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis 
of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no 
realistic alternative but to do so.  
 
The directors are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process. 
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Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion (Continued) 
 
Going concern (Continued) 
 
These conditions, together with other matters disclosed in Note 4 to the financial statements, indicate the 
existence of material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s and Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern. 
 
We were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to satisfy ourselves on certain key assumptions 
supporting the cash flow forecast. In particular, we were unable to evaluate the validity, feasibility and 
effectiveness of the debt settlement arrangement with the other shipyards as we were not provided with 
supporting documents to corroborate management’s representation on the terms of the arrangement and status 
of the negotiations.  
 
Consequently, we were unable to conclude whether the use of going concern basis in the preparation of these 
accompanying financial statements is appropriate. If the Group and the Company are unable to continue in 
operational existence for the foreseeable future, the Group and the Company may be unable to discharge their 
liabilities in the normal course of business and adjustments may have to be made to reflect the situation that 
assets may need to be realised in a manner other than in the normal course of business and at amounts which 
could differ significantly from the amounts at which they are currently recorded in the statements of financial 
position. In addition, the Group and the Company may need to reclassify non-current assets and liabilities to 
current assets and liabilities. No such adjustments have been made to the accompanying financial statements. 
 

 
Responsibilities of Management and Directors for the Financial Statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management 
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue 
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis 
of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no 
realistic alternative but to do so.  
 
The directors are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process. 
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
Our responsibility is to conduct an audit of the financial statements in accordance with International Standards 
on Auditing and to issue an auditor’s report. However, because of the matter described in the Basis for Disclaimer 
of Opinion section of our report, we were not able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a 
basis for an audit opinion on these financial statements.  
 
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the Accounting and Corporate Regulatory Authority (“ACRA”) 
Code of Professional Conduct and Ethics for Public Accountants and Accounting Entities (“ACRA Code”) together 
with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Singapore, and we 
have fulfilled our other responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the ACRA Code. 

 
 

 
The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is  
Leong Hon Mun Peter 
 
 
 
 
 
 
BDO LLP 
Public Accountants and 
Chartered Accountants 
 
Singapore  
17 July 2018 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 
 
 

 Note 2017 2016 

  RM’000 RM’000 

    

Revenue 5 319,578 170,424 

Cost of sales 6 (283,758) (161,971)

Gross profit  35,820 8,453 

Other income 7 24,194 106,065 

Selling and administrative expenses  (33,766) (42,824)

Other operating expenses  (2,919,899) (91,175)

Loss from operations  (2,893,651) (19,481)

Finance costs 8 (73,391) (15,463)

Share of results of equity accounted joint ventures, net of tax  (4,936) 6,593 

Share of results of equity accounted associate, net of tax  (46,610) (14,271)

Loss before income tax 9 (3,018,588) (42,622)

Income tax credit/(expense) 10 813 (149)

Loss for the financial year   (3,017,775) (42,771)

    

Other comprehensive income    

Items that will or may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss     

Exchange differences on translating foreign operations  (6,801) 27,071 

Changes to cash flow hedge reserves  - 6,617 

Fair value loss on available-for-sale financial assets  (2,372) - 

Other comprehensive income for the financial year, net of tax  (9,173) 33,688 

Total comprehensive loss for the financial year  (3,026,948) (9,083)

    

Loss for the financial year attributable to:    

Owners of the parent  (3,020,051) (42,014)

Non-controlling interests  2,276 (757)

  (3,017,775) (42,771)

    

Total comprehensive loss attributable to:    

Owners of the parent  (3,029,224) (8,326)

Non-controlling interests  2,276 (757)

  (3,026,948) (9,083)

    

Loss per share     

Basic (in sen) 11 (144.05) (2.00)

Diluted (in sen) 11 (144.05) (2.00)
 
 
 
 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2017 
 
 

  Group Company 

 Note 2017 2016 2017 2016

  RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

     

ASSETS      

Non-current assets      

Property, plant and equipment 12 268,703 428,497 - - 

Prepaid land lease payments 13 7,133 7,403 - - 

Investment properties 14 - 92,784 - - 

Investments in subsidiaries 15 - - - 2,307,317 

Investments in joint ventures 16 4,041 10,957 - - 

Investment in an associate 17 23,840 74,840 - - 

Available-for-sale financial assets 18 3,226 30,442 - - 

Trade and other receivables  19 16,797 - - - 

  323,740 644,923 - 2,307,317 

      

Current assets      

Available-for-sale financial assets 18 - 4,716 - - 

Inventories 20 382,043 2,398,304 - - 

Trade and other receivables  19 65,079 128,012 - 100,576 

Prepayments 21 4,724 156,785 28 7 

Current income tax recoverable  1,526 1,674 - - 

Due from customers on contracts 22 38,484 462,398 - - 

Fixed deposits 23 28,677 153,003 22,939 60,508 

Cash and bank balances 23 195,740 148,490 288 1,003 

  716,273 3,453,382 23,255 162,094 

Asset-held-for-sale 24 74,676 - - - 

Total assets  1,114,689 4,098,305 23,255 2,469,411 

      

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES      

Equity      

Share capital 25 81,192 405,962 81,192 405,962 

Share premium 25 82,347 82,347 82,347 82,347 

Treasury shares 26 (4,097) (4,097) (4,097) (4,097)

Reserves 27 318,614 327,787 778,608 778,608 

(Accumulated losses)/Retained earnings 27 (2,138,467) 556,814 (2,515,853) 58,413 
Equity attributable to owners of the 

parent  (1,660,411) 1,368,813 (1,577,803) 1,321,233 

Non-controlling interests  1,496 (780) - - 

Total equity  (1,658,915) 1,368,033 (1,577,803) 1,321,233 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.  
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STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2017  
 
 

  Group Company 

 Note 2017 2016 2017 2016

  RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

   

Liabilities     

Non-current liabilities      

Loans and borrowings 28 - 874,781 - 847,228 

Deferred tax liabilities 29 220 1,480 - - 

Trade and other payables 30 2,582 2,637 - - 

  2,802 878,898 - 847,228 

      

Current liabilities      

Due to customers on contracts 22 700 3,791 - - 

Loans and borrowings 28 1,639,247 948,720 1,114,322 294,457 

Trade and other payables 30 1,098,475 898,663 2,336 6,493 

Provisions 31 32,380 200 484,400 - 

  2,770,802 1,851,374 1,601,058 300,950 

      

Total liabilities  2,773,604 2,730,272 1,601,058 1,148,178 

      

Total equity and liabilities  1,114,689 4,098,305 23,255 2,469,411 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 
 
 

Note 2017 2016

 RM’000 RM’000
 

Operating activities    

Loss before income tax  (3,018,588) (42,622)
    

Adjustments for:    

 Interest income  (5,444) (4,979)

 Interest expense  73,391 15,463 

 Unrealised loss/(gain) on foreign exchange, net  36,766 (42,751)

 Net fair value gain on derivatives  - (2,378)

 Amortisation of prepaid land lease payments  108 108 

 Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  19,214 20,888 

 Depreciation of investment properties  930 1,298 

   (Gain)/Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment  (7,081) 3,264 

 Plant and equipment written off  482 - 

 Allowance for trade and other receivables  71,732 1,196 

 Share of post-tax results of equity accounted joint ventures   4,936 (6,593)

   Share of post-tax results of equity accounted associate  46,610 14,271 

   Bad debts written off  3,389 15 

   Prepayments for inventories written off  105,899 19,929 

   Contract termination expenses relating to prepayments for inventories  8,363 - 

   Loss on disposal of available-for-sale financial assets  1,170 2,713 

   Impairment on investment in an associate  5,237 3,445 

   Impairment of property, plant and equipment  346,767 3,554 

   Impairment on investment properties  15,233 - 

   Impairment on amount due from customers on contracts  198,660 - 

   Allowance for trade receivables written back  (2) (1,635)

   Inventories written off  639 - 

   Inventories written down  2,085,877 59,772 

Total adjustments  3,012,876 87,580 

Operating cash flows before working capital changes  (5,712) 44,958 
    

Changes in working capital:    

 Increase in inventories  (433,204) (305,236)

 Increase in receivables  (35,006) (38,590)

 Decrease in prepayments  30,960 43,895 

 Decrease/(Increase) in amount due from customers on contracts  202,317 (83,206)

 Increase in payables  300,176 129,688 

 Increase in provision  32,180 - 

 Decrease in amount due to customers on contracts  (2,868) (13,639)

Total changes in working capital  94,555 (267,088)

Cash flows from/(used in) operations  88,843 (222,130)
 
 
 
 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.  
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017  
 
 

Note 2017 2016

 RM’000 RM’000

Operating activities (continued)   

Cash flows from/(used in) operations  88,843 (222,130)

Interest paid  (39,483) (15,462)

Taxes paid, net of refund  (297) (1,079)

Net cash flows from/(used in) operating activities  49,063 (238,671)

    

Investing activities    

 Acquisition of property, plant and equipment  (2,922) (87)

 Interest received  5,444 4,979 

   Proceeds from maturity of held-to-maturity financial assets  - 15,914 

   Proceeds from disposal of available-for-sale financial assets  25,760 79,130 

 Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment  7 5,050 

 (Repayment from)/Advances to joint ventures  (3,685) 23,115 

 Sundry receivables relating to sales of leasehold property  13,857 - 

 Deposit received relating to asset-held-for-sale  5,313 - 

Net cash flows from investing activities  43,774 128,101 

    

Financing activities    

 Proceeds from revolving credit  42,432 316,840 

 Proceeds from trust receipt  8,802 5,633 

 Proceeds from term loans  - 45,533 

 Proceeds from project invoice financing  4,462 23,047 

 Repayments of revolving credit  (123,196) (315,695)

 Repayments from trust receipt  (14,159) (2,950)

 Repayments of term loans  (41,732) (97,689)

 Repayments of project invoice financing  - (17,227)

 Repayments of medium term notes  (5,818) - 

   Decrease/(Increase) in fixed deposits pledged  101,187 (59,048)

   Interest paid  (31,627) (75,436)

Net cash flows used in financing activities  (59,649) (176,992)

    

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  33,188 (287,562)

Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents  (12,783) 8,189 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of financial year  162,618 441,991 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of financial year 23 183,023 162,618 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.  
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017  
 
 
Note A: Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities 
 

   
Non-cash changes 

 2016 Cash flows

Foreign 
exchange 

differences
Accretion of 

interest 2017

 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000
      

Revolving credit 594,887 (80,764) (31,781) - 482,342 

Trust receipt 5,633 (5,357) (276) - - 

Term loans 93,307 (41,732) (3,950) - 47,625 

Project invoice financing 19,330 4,462 (1,036) - 22,756 

Medium term notes 1,094,587 (5,818) (26,032) 5,570 1,068,307 

Fixed deposits pledged (123,118) 101,187 (1,246) - (23,177)

 1,684,626 (28,022) (64,321) 5,570 1,597,853 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.  



NOTES TO THE 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2017

ANNUAL REPORT 2017
61

NAM CHEONG LIMITED 
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
 

Page 16

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 
 
 
These notes form an integrated part of and should be read in conjunction with the accompanying financial statements. 
 
 
1. General corporate information 

 
Nam Cheong Limited (“the Company”) was incorporated as an exempted company with limited liability and 
domiciled in Bermuda and is listed on the Main Board of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-
ST”). The registered office address is Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda and the principle 
place of business is 146B, Paya Lebar Road #02-01 Ace Building, Singapore 409017. 
 
The principal activity of the Company is that of an investment holding company. The principal activities of the 
subsidiaries are disclosed in Note 15 to the financial statements. 
 
The ultimate controlling party is Tan Sri Datuk Tiong Su Kouk. Related companies in these financial statements refer to 
members of the Group. 
 
The statement of financial position of Company and the consolidated financial statements of the Company and its 
subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the financial year ended 31 December 2017 were authorised for issue in accordance with 
a Directors’ resolution dated 17 July 2018. 
 
 

2. Summary of significant accounting policies 
 
2.1 Basis of preparation of financial statements 

 
The consolidated financial statements of the Group and the statement of financial position of the Company 
have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). 
 
The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except as disclosed in the accounting 
policies below. The financial statements are presented in Ringgit Malaysia (“RM”) which is the functional 
currency of the Company and presentation currency for the consolidated financial statements and all values 
are rounded to the nearest thousand (“RM'000”), except when otherwise indicated. 
 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the management to exercise 
judgement in the process of applying the Group’s and the Company’s accounting policies and requires the use 
of accounting estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and 
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the end of the reporting period, and the reported amounts of 
revenue and expenses during the financial year. Although these estimates are based on the management’s 
best knowledge of historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are 
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, actual results may ultimately differ from those estimates. 
The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting 
estimates are recognised in the financial year in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that 
financial year, or in the financial year of the revision and future financial years if the revision affects both 
current and future financial years. 
 
Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty used that are significant to the 
financial statements are disclosed in Note 3 to the financial statements. 
 
During the financial year, the Group and the Company adopted the revised IFRS that are relevant to their 
operations and effective for the current financial year. Changes to the Group’s and the Company’s accounting 
policies have been made as required in accordance with the relevant transitional provisions in the respective 
IFRS. The adoption of the revised IFRS did not result in any substantial changes to the Group’s and the 
Company’s accounting policies and has no material effect on the amounts reported for the current and prior 
financial years except as detailed below. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 
 
 
2. Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued) 

 
2.1 Basis of preparation of financial statements (Continued) 

 
IAS 7 (Amendments) Disclosure Initiative 
 
The amendments require the entity to include an additional disclosure in their financial statements to provide 
users with information that enables them to evaluate changes in liabilities arising from financing activities. 
This reconciliation provides information on changes that arise from cash flows and non-cash flows such as the 
effects of acquisitions and disposals, exchange rates and fair value movements. 
 
The Group adopted these amendments on 1 January 2017 and the additional disclosures have been included in 
the consolidated statement of cash flows. 
 
New or amended standards and interpretations that have been issued but are not yet effective 
 
The Group and the Company have not early adopted the following new or amended IFRSs that have been 
issued but are not yet effective: 
 

IFRS 2 (Amendments) Classification and Measurement of Share-based Payment  

    Transactions 1 

IFRS 4 (Amendments) Applying IFRS 9 Financial Instruments with IFRS 4  

    Insurance Contracts 1 

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments 1 

IFRS 10 and IAS 28 (Amendments) Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28: Sale or Contribution of  

    Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint 

    Venture 4 

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 1 

IFRS 15 (Amendments) Clarifications to IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with  

    Customers 1 

IFRS 16 Leases 2 

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts 3  

IAS 28 (Amendments) Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures 2 

IAS 40 (Amendments) Transfer of Investment Property 1 

IFRS (Amendments) Annual Improvements 2014 – 2016 Cycle 1 

IFRS (Amendments) Annual Improvements 2015 – 2017 Cycle 2 

IFRIC 22  Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration 1 

IFRIC 23  Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments 2 
 
1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018 
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019 
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021 
4 To be determined 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 
 
 
2. Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued) 

 
2.1 Basis of preparation of financial statements (Continued) 

 
New or amended standards and interpretations that have been issued but are not yet effective 
(Continued) 
 
IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments 
 
IFRS 9 supersedes IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement with new requirements for the 
classification and measurement of financial assets and liabilities, impairment of financial assets and hedge 
accounting.  
 
Classification and measurement 
 
Under IFRS 9, financial assets are classified into financial assets measured at fair value or at amortised cost 
depending on the Group’s business model for managing the financial assets and the contractual cash flow 
characteristics of the financial assets. Fair value gains or losses will be recognised in profit or loss except for 
certain equity investments, for which the Group will have a choice to recognise the gains and losses in other 
comprehensive income. A third measurement category has been added for debt instruments – fair value 
through other comprehensive income. This measurement category applies to debt instruments that meet the 
Solely Payments of Principal and Interest contractual cash flow characteristics test and where the Group is 
holding the debt instrument to both collect the contractual cash flows and to sell the financial assets. 
 
IFRS 9 carries forward the recognition, classification and measurement requirements for financial liabilities 
from IAS 39, except for financial liabilities that are designated at fair value through profit or loss, where the 
amount of change in fair value attributable to change in credit risk of that liability is recognised in other 
comprehensive income unless that would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch. In addition, IFRS 9 
retains the requirements in IAS 39 for de-recognition of financial assets and financial liabilities. 
 
The Group has completed its assessment of the classification and measurement of its financial assets, and 
expect that financial assets currently measured at amortised cost will continue to qualify for measurement at 
amortised cost under IFRS 9. 
 
No financial liabilities are designated at fair value through profit or loss, therefore the Group also do not 
expect the adoption of the standard would result in any impact to the Group.  
 
Impairment 
 
IFRS 9 introduces a new forward-looking impairment model based on expected credit losses to replace the 
incurred loss model in IAS 39. This determines the recognition of impairment provisions as well as interest 
revenue. For financial assets at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive income, the Group 
will now always recognise (at a minimum) 12 months of expected losses in profit or loss. Lifetime expected 
losses will be recognised on these assets when there is a significant increase in credit risk after initial 
recognition. 
 
The new impairment requirements are expected to result in changes to and likely increases in impairment 
loss allowances on trade receivables and other receivables, due to earlier recognition of credit losses. The 
Group expects to adopt the simplified model for its trade receivables and will record an allowance for lifetime 
expected losses from initial recognition. For other receivables due from subsidiaries and joint ventures, the 
Group will initially provide for 12 months expected losses under the three-stage model. 
 
The Group and the Company are currently finalising the policies and procedures in determining how to 
estimate expected credit losses and the sources of forward-looking data, and evaluating the tax implications 
arising from the above change in impairment model.  
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 
 
 
2. Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued) 

 
2.1 Basis of preparation of financial statements (Continued) 

 
New or amended standards and interpretations that have been issued but are not yet effective 
(Continued) 
 
IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments (Continued) 
 
Hedge accounting 
 
IFRS 9 also introduces a new hedge accounting model designed to allow entities to better reflect their risk 
management activities in their financial statements. As the Group has ceased hedge accounting, the Group 
does not expect any impact from the new hedge accounting rules on adoption of IFRS 9.  
 
The Group plans to adopt the standard in the financial year beginning on 1 January 2018 with retrospective 
effect in accordance with the transitional provisions and intends to elect not to restate comparatives for the 
previous financial year. 
 
IFRS 9 also requires additional financial statements disclosures which the Group will include in its financial 
statements in the financial year when the standard is adopted.  
 
IFRS 15 – Revenue from Contracts with Customers 
 
IFRS 15 introduces a comprehensive model that applies to revenue from contracts with customers and 
supersedes all existing revenue recognition requirements under IFRSs. The model features a five-step analysis 
to determine whether, how much and when revenue is recognised, and two approaches for recognising 
revenue: at a point in time or over time. The core principle is that an entity recognises revenue when control 
over promised goods or services is transferred to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to 
which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. IFRS 15 also introduces 
extensive qualitative and quantitative disclosure requirements which aim to enable users of the financial 
statements to understand the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from 
contracts with customers. 
 
The Group currently recognises construction contracts by reference to the stage of completion of the contract 
activity at the end of the reporting period when the outcome of a construction contract can be estimated 
reliably. On adoption of IFRS 15, there may be significant impact on the timing of revenue recognition of the 
Group. Under IFRS 15 the Group would qualify for revenue recognition over time only if there is no alternative 
use for the vessels constructed under contracts with customers and the Group has an enforceable right to 
receive payment for performance completed to date. Based on the Group’s assessment, the Group’s 
construction contracts did not satisfy these criteria and therefore revenue would be recognised at a point in 
time on delivery and acceptance of the vessel by the customer when title and risk are transferred to the 
customer.  
 
On the adoption of IFRS 15, the Group estimates that the revenue recognised in previous years under the stage 
of completion method but the title and risks are not yet transferred to customers will be reduced by 
RM215,897,000 , the work-in-progress and the deposit received from contract customers will be increased by 
RM258,626,000 and RM50,067,000 respectively. The Group is currently finalising the above transition 
adjustments and evaluating the tax implication arising from the above changes in timing. 
 
The Group plans to adopt the standard in the financial year beginning on 1 January 2018 with cumulative 
retrospective effect in accordance with the transitional provisions, and will include the required additional 
disclosures in its financial statements for that financial year. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 
 
 
2. Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued) 

 
2.1 Basis of preparation of financial statements (Continued) 

 
New or amended standards and interpretations that have been issued but are not yet effective 
(Continued) 
 
IFRS 16 - Leases 
 
IFRS 16 supersedes IAS 17 Leases and introduces a new single lessee accounting model which eliminates the 
current distinction between operating and finance leases for lessees. IFRS 16 requires lessees to capitalise all 
leases on the statement of financial position by recognising a ‘right-of-use’ asset and a corresponding lease 
liability for the present value of the obligation to make lease payments, except for certain short-term leases 
and leases of low-value assets. Subsequently, the lease assets will be depreciated and the lease liabilities will 
be measured at amortised cost.  
 
From the perspective of a lessor, the classification and accounting for operating and finance leases remains 
substantially unchanged under IFRS 16. IFRS 16 also requires enhanced disclosures by both lessees and lessors. 
 
On initial adoption of this standard, there may be an impact on the accounting treatment for the Group’s 
leases, particularly rented office premises, which the Group, as lessee, currently accounts for as operating 
leases. The Group plans to adopt the standard in the financial year beginning on 1 January 2019 with either 
full or modified retrospective effect in accordance with the transitional provisions, and will include the 
required additional disclosures in its financial statements for that financial year. The Group is still assessing 
the possible financial impact upon adopting this new standard, more disclosure will be made upon 
completion of the assessment. 
 

2.2 Basis of consolidation  
 
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries 
as at the end of the reporting period. The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same 
reporting date as that of the parent company. 
 
Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to align them with the policies 
adopted by the Group to ensure consistency.  
 
Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group up to the effective 
date on which control ceases, as appropriate. 
 
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, intra-group balances and transactions and any 
unrealised income and expenses arising from intra-group transactions are eliminated. Unrealised losses are 
also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment loss of the assets transferred. 
 
Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries relate to the equity in subsidiaries which are not attributable directly 
or indirectly to the owners of the parent. They are shown separately in the consolidated statements of 
comprehensive income, financial position and changes in equity. 
 
Non-controlling interests in the acquiree may be initially measured either at fair value or at the non-
controlling interests’ proportionate share of the fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. The choice 
of measurement basis is made on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis. Subsequent to acquisition, the 
carrying amount of non-controlling interests is the amount of those interests at initial recognition plus the 
non-controlling interests’ share of subsequent changes in equity. Total comprehensive income is attributed to 
non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 
 
 
2. Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued) 

 
2.2 Basis of consolidation (Continued) 

 
Changes in the Group’s interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as 
equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s interests and the non-controlling interests are 
adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between the 
amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or 
received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of the parent. 
 
When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit or loss on disposal is calculated as the difference 
between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any retained 
interest and (ii) the previous carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the 
subsidiary and any non-controlling interests. Amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income 
in relation to the subsidiary are accounted for (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred directly to 
accumulated profits) in the same manner as would be required if the relevant assets or liabilities were 
disposed of. The fair value of any investments retained in the former subsidiary at the date when control is 
lost is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting under IAS 39 Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement or, when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an 
investment in an associate or joint ventures. 

 
2.3 Business combinations 

 
Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition is measured 
as the aggregate of the consideration transferred, measured at acquisition date fair value and the amount of 
any non-controlling interest in the acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects whether it 
measures the non-controlling interest in the acquiree either at fair value or at the proportionate share of the 
acquiree’s identifiable net assets. Acquisition related costs are expensed as incurred and included in 
administrative expenses. 
 
When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate 
classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances and 
pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host 
contracts by the acquiree. 
 
If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously held equity interest is remeasured at its 
acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss. 
 
Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be recognised at fair value at the 
acquisition date. Contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability that is a financial instrument and 
within the scope of IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, is measured at fair value 
with changes in fair value recognised either in profit or loss or as a change to other comprehensive income. If 
the contingent consideration is not within the scope of IAS 39, it is measured in accordance with the 
appropriate IFRSs. 
 
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured and subsequent settlement is 
accounted for within equity. Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the aggregate of the 
consideration transferred and the amount recognised for non-controlling interest over the net identifiable 
assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the fair value of the net assets acquired is in excess of the 
aggregate consideration transferred, the gain is recognised in profit or loss. 
 
After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. For the 
purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date, 
allocated to each of the Group's cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the combination, 
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the acquiree are assigned to those units. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 
 
 
2. Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued) 

 
2.3 Business combinations (Continued) 

 
Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit and part of the operation within that unit is 
disposed of, the goodwill associated with the disposed operation is included in the carrying amount of the 
operation when determining the gain or loss on disposal. Goodwill disposed in these circumstance is 
measured based on the relative values of the disposed operation and the portion of the cash-generating unit 
retained. 
 
Business combinations involving entities under common control are accounted for by applying the pooling -
of-interest method which involves the following: 
 
- The assets and liabilities of the combining entities are reflected at their carrying amounts reported in 

the consolidated financial statements of the controlling holding company. 
- No adjustments are made to reflect the fair values on the date of combination, or recognise any new 

assets or liabilities. 
- No additional goodwill is recognised as a result of the combination. 
- Any difference between the consideration paid/transferred and the equity 'acquired' is reflected 

within the equity as merger reserve. 
- The statement of comprehensive income reflects the results of the combining entities for the full year, 

irrespective of when the combination took place. 
- Comparatives are presented as if the entities had always been combined since the date the entities 

had come under common control. 
 

2.4 Interests in subsidiaries 
 
Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has control. The Group controls an investee if the Group has 
power over the investee, exposure to variable return from the investee, and the ability to use its power to 
affect those variable returns. Control is reassessed whenever facts and circumstances indicate that there may 
be a change in any of these elements of control. In the Company’s financial statements, investments in 
subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less impairment losses. 
 

2.5 Interests in joint ventures 
 
The Group is a party to a joint arrangement when there is a contractual arrangement that confers joint control 
over the relevant activities of the arrangement to the group and at least one other party. Joint control is 
assessed under the same principles as control over subsidiaries.  
 
The Group classifies its interests in joint arrangements as either: 
 

Joint ventures: where the group has rights to only the net assets of the joint arrangement 
Joint operations: where the group has both the rights to assets and obligations for the liabilities of the 
joint arrangement. 

 
In assessing the classification of interests in joint arrangements, the Group considers: 
 

The structure of the joint arrangement 
The legal form of joint arrangements structured through a separate vehicle 
The contractual terms of the joint arrangement agreement  
Any other facts and circumstances (including any other contractual arrangements). 

 
The Group’s interest in joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method. Under the equity method, 
the investment in joint ventures are carried in the statements of financial position at cost plus post-
acquisition changes in the Group’s share in net assets of the joint ventures. The share of results of the joint 
ventures are recognised in profit or loss. Where there have been a change recognised directly to equity of the 
joint ventures, the Group recognises its share of such changes. After application of the equity method, the 
Group determines whether it is necessary to recognise any additional impairment loss with respect to the 
Group’s net investment in the joint ventures. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 
 
 
2. Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued) 

 
2.5 Interests in joint ventures (Continued) 

 
The Group’s share of results and reserves of joint venture acquired or disposed of are included in the financial 
statements from the date of acquisition up to the date of disposal or cessation of joint control over the 
relevant activities of the arrangements. 
 

2.6 Interest in an associate 
 
Where the Group has the power to participate in (but not control) the financial and operating policy decisions 
of another entity, it is classified as an associate. Associates are initially recognised in the consolidated 
statement of financial position at cost. Subsequently associates are accounted for using the equity method, 
where the Group's share of post-acquisition profits and losses and other comprehensive income is recognised 
in the consolidated statement of profit and loss and other comprehensive income (except for losses in excess 
of the Group's investment in the associate unless there is an obligation to make good those losses). 
 
Profits and losses arising on transactions between the Group and its associate are recognised only to the 
extent of unrelated investors' interests in the associate. The investor's share in the associate's profits and 
losses resulting from these transactions is eliminated against the carrying value of the associate. 
 
Any premium paid for an associate above the fair value of the Group's share of the identifiable assets, 
liabilities and contingent liabilities acquired is capitalised and included in the carrying amount of the 
associate. Where there is objective evidence that the investment in an associate has been impaired the 
carrying amount of the investment is tested for impairment in the same way as other non-financial assets. 
 

2.7 Government grants 
 
Government grants relates to an asset, which fair value is recognised as deferred income and classified as 
non-current sundry payable. Subsequently, it is measured at amortised cost, where applicable, using the 
effective interest method. 
 

2.8 Foreign currencies 
 
Items included in the individual financial statements of each entity in the Group are measured using the 
currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (“functional currency”). 
 
The consolidated financial statements of the Group and the statement of financial position of the Company 
are presented in Ringgit Malaysia, which is the functional currency of the Company and the presentation 
currency for the consolidated financial statements. 
 
In preparing the financial statements, transactions in currencies other than the entity’s functional currency 
(“foreign currencies”) are recorded at the rates of exchange prevailing on the date of the transactions. At the 
end of each reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are re-translated at the 
rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are 
denominated in foreign currencies are re-translated at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value 
was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are 
not re-translated. 
 
Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items and on re-translating of monetary items 
are recognised in profit or loss for the financial year. Exchange differences arising on the re-translation of 
non-monetary items carried at fair value are recognised in profit or loss for the financial year except for 
differences arising on the re-translation of non-monetary items in respect of which gains and losses are 
recognised in other comprehensive income. For such non-monetary items, any exchange component of that 
gain or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive income.  
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued) 

 
2.8 Foreign currencies (Continued) 

 
For the purposes of presenting consolidated financial statements, the results and financial positions of the 
Group’s entities that have a functional currency different from the presentation currency are translated into 
the presentation currency as follows: 
 
(i) assets and liabilities are translated at the closing exchange rate at the reporting date; 
(ii) income and expenses are translated at average exchange rate for the financial year (unless this 

average is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the 
transaction dates, in which case income and expenses are translated using the exchange rates at the 
dates of the transactions); and 

(iii) all resulting foreign currency exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income and 
presented in the foreign currency translation account in equity. Such translation differences are 
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which the foreign operation disposed of. 

 
2.9 Property, plant and equipment and depreciation 

 
Property, plant and equipment are initially recorded at cost. Subsequent to initial recognition, property, plant 
and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment loss, if any. 
 
The cost of property, plant and equipment includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition 
of the items. Dismantlement, removal or restoration costs are included as part of the cost of property, plant 
and equipment if the obligation for dismantlement, removal or restoration is incurred as a consequence of 
acquiring or using the property, plant and equipment. 
 
Subsequent expenditure relating to the property, plant and equipment that has already been recognised is 
added to the carrying amount of the asset when it is probable that the future economic benefits, in excess of 
the standard of performance of the asset before the expenditure was made, will flow to the Group and the 
Company and the cost can be reliably measured. Other subsequent expenditure is recognised as an expense 
during the financial year in which it is incurred. 
 
An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic 
benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on derecognition of the asset is included in 
profit or loss in the financial year the asset is derecognised. 
 
Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate the depreciable amounts of the property, 
plant and equipment over their estimated useful lives as follows: 
 

 Years

Leasehold land 60

Leasehold buildings 50

Freehold building 50

Launching ways, plant and machinery 10

Furniture, fixtures and office equipment 5 - 10

Motor vehicles 5

Vessels 25

Renovation 10

Signboards 10
 
Work-in-progress is not depreciated as these assets are not available for use. 

  



NOTES TO THE 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2017

NAM CHEONG LIMITED
70

NAM CHEONG LIMITED 
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
 

Page 25
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued) 

 
2.9 Property, plant and equipment and depreciation (Continued) 

 
The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method are reviewed at each financial year-end to ensure 
that the residual values, period of depreciation and depreciation method are consistent with previous 
estimates and the expected pattern of consumption of the future economic benefits embodied in the items of 
property, plant and equipment. 
 
Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their expected useful lives on the same basis as owned 
assets or, if there is no certainty that the lessee will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term, the asset 
shall be fully depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and its useful life. 
 
Fully depreciated assets still in use are retained in the financial statements. 
 

2.10 Prepaid land lease payments 
 
Prepaid land lease payments are initially measured at cost. Following initial recognition, prepaid land lease 
payments are measured at cost less accumulated amortisation. The prepaid land lease payments are 
amortised on a straight-line basis over their lease terms as below: 
 

 Years

Lot 1 and 2 11.5 to 14.5

Lot 3 and 4 54 to 60
 

2.11 Investment properties 
 
Investment properties, which are properties held to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation are initially 
recognised at cost and subsequently carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. 
Depreciation is charged, using the straight-line method, so as to write off the cost over their remaining useful 
lives of 70 years. The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method of investment properties are 
reviewed and adjusted as appropriate, at the end of each financial year. The effects of any revision are 
included in profit or loss when the changes arise. 
 
Investment properties are subject to renovations or improvements at regular intervals. The costs of major 
renovations and improvements are capitalised as additions and the carrying amounts of the replaced 
components are written off to profit or loss. The costs of maintenance, repairs and minor improvement are 
charged to profit or loss when incurred. 
 
On disposal or retirement of an investment property, the difference between the net disposal proceeds and 
the carrying amount of the asset is recognised in profit or loss. 
 

2.12 Non-current assets held for sale 
  
 Non-current assets are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered through a sale 

transaction rather than through continuing use. This condition is regarded as met only when the sale is 
highly probable and the asset (or disposal group) is available for immediate sale in its present condition. 
Management must be committed to the sale, which should be expected to qualify for recognition as a 
completed sale within one year from the date of classification.  

 
 Non-current assets classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of the asset’s previous carrying 

amount and fair value less costs to sell. The assets are not depreciated or amortised while classified as held 
for sale. Any impairment loss on initial classification and subsequent measurement is recognised as an 
expense. Any subsequent increase in fair value less costs to sell (not exceeding the accumulated impairment 
loss that has been previously recognised) is recognised in profit or loss.  
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued) 

 
2.13 Leases 

 
Operating leases 
 
When the Group is the lessee of operating leases 
 
Leases of assets in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the 
lessor are classified as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives 
received from the lessor) are recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease. 
 
When an operating lease is terminated before the lease period has expired, any payment required to be 
made to the lessor by way of penalty is recognised as an expense in the financial year in which termination 
takes place. 
 
When the Group is the lessor of operating leases 
 
Leases where the Group retains substantially all risks and rewards incidental to the ownership are classified 
as operating leases. 
 
Assets leased out under operating leases are included in investment properties. 
 
Rental income from operating leases (net of any incentives given to lessees) is recognised in profit or loss on a 
straight-line basis over the lease term. 

 
2.14 Impairment of non-financial assets (excluding inventories) 

 
The carrying amounts of non-financial assets (excluding inventories) are reviewed at the end of each 
reporting period to determine whether there is any indication of impairment loss and whenever events or 
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. If any such indication 
exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the asset’s recoverable amount is 
estimated. 
 
An impairment loss is recognised whenever the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit 
exceeds its recoverable amount. A cash-generating unit is the smallest identifiable asset group that generates 
cash flows that largely are independent from other assets and groups of assets. Impairment loss is recognised 
in profit or loss, unless it reverses a previous revaluation, credited to other comprehensive income, in which 
case it is charged to other comprehensive income up to the amount of any previous revaluation. 
 
The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and 
its value in use. Recoverable amount is determined for individual asset, unless the asset does not generate 
cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets. If this is the case, the 
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the assets belong. The fair value less 
costs to sell is the amount obtainable from the sale of an asset or cash-generating unit in an arm’s length 
transaction between knowledgeable, willing parties, less costs of disposal. Value in use is the present value of 
estimated future cash flows expected to be derived from the continuing use of an asset and from its disposal 
at the end of its useful life, discounted at pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessment of the time 
value of money and the risks specific to the asset or cash-generating unit for which the future cash flow 
estimates have not been adjusted. 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued) 

 
2.14 Impairment of non-financial assets (excluding inventories) (Continued) 
 

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as to whether there is any indication that an 
impairment loss recognised in prior periods for an asset may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such 
indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. An impairment loss recognised in prior periods is 
reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount since the 
last impairment loss was recognised. If that is the case, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to its 
recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does 
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no 
impairment loss has been recognised. Reversals of impairment loss are recognised in profit or loss unless the 
asset is carried at revalued amount, in which case the reversal in excess of impairment loss recognised in 
profit or loss in prior periods is treated as a revaluation increase. After such a reversal, the depreciation or 
amortisation is adjusted in future periods to allocate the asset’s revised carrying amount, less any residual 
value, on a systematic basis over its remaining useful life. 

 
2.15 Financial assets  

 
Financial assets are classified into the following specified categories: financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss, held-to-maturity financial assets, loans and receivables and available-for-sales financial 
assets. The classification depends on the nature and purpose for which these financial assets were acquired 
and is determined at the time of initial recognition. All financial assets are initially recognised at fair value, 
plus transaction costs, except for those financial assets classified as at fair value through profit or loss, which 
are initially recognised at fair value. 
 
Effective interest method 
 
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial instrument and 
allocating the interest income or expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that 
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts or payments (including all fees on points paid or received that 
form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through 
the expected life of the financial instrument, or where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying 
amount of the financial instrument. Income and expense are recognised on an effective interest basis for debt 
instruments other than those financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss. 
 
Loans and receivables 
 
Non-derivative financial assets which have fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active 
market are classified as loans and receivables. Loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost, using 
the effective interest method, less impairment. Interest is recognised by applying the effective interest rate, 
except for short-term receivables when the recognition of interest would be immaterial. 
 
The Group’s loans and receivables in the statement of financial position comprise trade and other receivables 
and cash and cash equivalents. 
 
Available-for-sale financial assets (“AFS”) 
 
Certain investments held by the Group are classified as AFS if they are not classified in any of the other 
categories. Subsequent to initial recognition, they are measured at fair value and changes therein are 
recognised directly in the fair value reserve with the exception of impairment losses, interests calculated using 
the effective interest method and foreign exchange gains and losses. Where the investment is disposed of or is 
determined to be impaired, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in the fair value reserve is 
included in profit or loss for the period. 
 
Available-for-sale financial assets are presented as non-current assets unless the investment matures or 
management intends to dispose of the assets within 12 months after the end of financial year. 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued) 

 
2.15 Financial assets (Continued) 

 
Impairment of financial assets 
 
Financial assets, other than FVTPL, are assessed for indicators of impairment at the end of each financial year. 
Financial assets are impaired where there is objective evidence that the estimated future cash flows of the 
investment have been impacted. 
 
For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment is the difference between the 
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original 
effective interest rate. 
 
The carrying amounts of all financial assets are reduced by the impairment loss directly with the exception of 
trade receivables where the carrying amount is reduced through the use of an allowance account. Changes in 
the carrying amount of the allowance account are recognised in profit or loss. 
 
If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related 
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised, the previously recognised 
impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss to the extent the carrying amount of the investment at the 
date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the 
impairment not been recognised. 
 
Derecognition of financial assets 
 
The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset 
expire, or it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset 
to another entity. 
 
On derecognition, any difference between the carrying amount and the sum of proceeds received and 
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income is recognised in profit or loss. 
 

2.16 Financial liabilities 
 
Financial liabilities are classified according to the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into and 
the definitions of a financial liability. 
 
Financial liabilities 
 
Financial liabilities are classified as either financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss or other 
financial liabilities. 
 
Financial liabilities are classified as at fair value through profit or loss if the financial liability is either held 
for trading, including derivatives not designated and effective as a hedging instrument; or it is designated as 
such upon initial recognition. The Group has not designated any financial liabilities as FVTPL upon initial 
recognition. 
 
Other financial liabilities 
 
Trade and other payables 
 
Trade and other payables, excluding deposits received, are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction 
costs, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost, where applicable, using the effective interest 
method. 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued) 

 
2.16 Financial liabilities (Continued) 

 
Other financial liabilities (Continued) 
 
Loans and borrowings 
 
Interest-bearing loan and borrowings are initially measured at fair value, and are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost, using the effective interest method. Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction 
costs) and the settlement or redemption of borrowings is recognised over the term of the borrowings in 
accordance with the Group’s accounting policy for borrowing costs. 
 
Financial guarantee contracts 
 
The Company has issued corporate guarantees to banks for borrowings of certain subsidiaries and these 
guarantees qualify as financial guarantees because the Company is required to reimburse the banks if these 
subsidiaries breach any repayment term. 
 
Financial guarantee contract liabilities are measured initially at their fair values plus transaction costs and 
subsequently at the higher of the amount of the obligation under the contract recognised as a provision in 
accordance with IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets and the amount initially 
recognised, less cumulative amortisation in accordance with IAS 18 Revenue. 
 
Derecognition of financial liabilities 
 
The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, 
cancelled or they expired. When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on 
substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange 
or modification is treated as the derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability. 
The difference between the carrying amount and the consideration paid is recognised in profit or loss. 
 

2.17 Offsetting of financial instruments 
 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement of financial 
position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an 
intention to settle on a net basis, to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously. 
 

2.18 Cash and cash equivalents  
 
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand and short-term, highly liquid investments 
that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of 
changes in value. These also include bank overdrafts that form an integral part of the Group's cash 
management. In the statements of financial position, bank overdrafts are presented within loans and 
borrowings under current liabilities. For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash 
equivalents also includes bank overdrafts and excludes any pledged deposits.  
 

2.19 Construction contracts 
 
The Group principally operates fixed price contracts for its vessels. Contract revenue and contract costs are 
recognised as revenue and expenses respectively by reference to the stage of completion of the contract 
activity at the end of the reporting period (the percentage of completion method), when the outcome of a 
construction contract can be estimated reliably. 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued) 

 
2.19 Construction contracts (Continued) 

 
The outcome of a construction contract can be estimated reliably when: (i) total contract revenue can be 
measured reliably; (ii) it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the contract will flow to the 
entity; (iii) the costs to complete the contract and the stage of completion can be measured reliably; and (iv) 
the contract costs attributable to the contract can be clearly identified and measured reliably so that actual 
contract costs incurred can be compared with prior estimates. 
 
When the outcome of a construction contract cannot be estimated reliably, contract revenue is recognised 
only to the extent of contract costs incurred that are likely to be recoverable and contract costs are recognised 
as expense in the period in which they are incurred. 
 
An expected loss on the construction contract is recognised as an expense immediately when it is probable 
that total contract costs will exceed total contract revenue. 
 
In applying the percentage of completion method, revenue recognised corresponds to the total contract 
revenue (as defined below) multiplied by the actual completion rate based on the proportion of total contract 
costs (as defined below) incurred to date and the estimated costs to complete. 
 
Contract revenue - Contract revenue corresponds to the initial amount of revenue agreed in the contract and 
any variations in contract work, claims and incentive payments to the extent that it is probable that they will 
result in revenue; and they are capable of being reliably measured. 
 
Contract costs - Contract costs include costs that relate directly to the specific contract and costs that are 
attributable to contract activity in general and can be allocated to the contract. Costs that relate directly to a 
specific contract comprise: site labour costs (including site supervision); costs of materials used in 
construction; depreciation of equipment used on the contract; costs of design, and technical assistance that is 
directly related to the contract. 
 
When the total of costs incurred on construction contracts plus, recognised profits (less recognised losses), 
exceeds progress billings, the balance is classified as amount due from customers on contracts. When progress 
billings exceed costs incurred plus, recognised profits (less recognised losses), the balance is classified as 
amount due to customers on contracts. 
 

2.20 Inventories 
 
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. 
 
Costs incurred in bringing each product to its present location and condition are accounted for as follows: 
 
- Raw materials: Purchase cost on weighted average basis 
- Work in progress: Costs that are directly attributable to the construction of built-to-stock vessels, which 

comprise, costs of materials used in construction; depreciation of equipment used on the contract; costs 
of design, and technical assistance 

 
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price at which inventories can be realised in the ordinary course 
of business, less estimated costs of completion and costs incurred in marketing and distribution. Where 
necessary, allowance is made for obsolete, slow-moving and defective inventories to adjust the carrying 
value of those inventories to the lower of cost and net realisable value. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued) 

 
2.21 Borrowing costs 

 
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which 
are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are 
added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use 
or sale. Borrowing costs on general borrowings are capitalised by applying a capitalisation rate to 
construction or development expenditures that are financed by general borrowings. Investment income 
earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is 
deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation. 
 
All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred using the 
effective interest method. 
 

2.22 Employee benefits 
 
Defined contribution plan 
 
Contributions to defined contribution plans are recognised as expenses in profit or loss in the same financial 
year as the employment that gives rise to the contributions. 

 
2.23 Revenue recognition 

 
Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and 
the revenue can be reliably measured, regardless of when the payment is being made. Revenue is measured 
at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, taking into account contractually defined terms 
of payment and excluding taxes or duty. The Group assesses its revenue arrangements against specific criteria 
to determine if it is acting as principal or agent. The Group has concluded that it is acting as a principal in all 
of its revenue arrangements. The specific recognition criteria described below must also be met before 
revenue is recognised. 
 
Construction contracts 
 
Revenue from construction contracts is accounted for by the percentage of completion method as described in 
Note 2.19 to the financial statements. 
 
Sales of built-to-stock vessels and equipment 
 
Revenue from sales of goods is recognised when goods are delivered to the customer and the significant risks 
and rewards of ownership has been transferred to the customer, recovery of the consideration is probable, 
the associated costs and possible return of goods can be estimated reliably. 

 
Charter income 
 
Revenue from vessels under charter is recognised as services are rendered. Income from time charter, which 
comprise short term operating leases, are recognised on a straight-line basis over the period of the charter 
and the leases are cancellable. 
 
Interest income 
 
Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective interest rate (“EIR”) method. EIR is the 
rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash payments or receipts over the expected life of the 
financial instrument or a shorter period, where appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset 
or liability. 
 
Rental income 
 
Rental income is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.  
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued) 

 
2.24 Income tax 

 
Income tax expense for the financial year comprises current and deferred taxes. Income tax expense is 
recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to a business combination, or items recognised 
directly in equity or in other comprehensive income. 
 
Current income tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the financial year, using tax rates 
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period, and any adjustment to income tax 
payable in respect of previous financial years. 
 
Deferred tax is provided, using the balance sheet liability method, for temporary differences at the end of the 
reporting period when the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial 
reporting purposes. Deferred tax is measured using the tax rates expected to be applied to the temporary 
differences when they are realised or settled, based on tax rates enacted or substantively enacted by the end 
of the reporting period. 
 
Deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be 
available against which the temporary differences can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at the end 
of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit 
will be realised. 
 
Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are recognised to the 
extent that it has become probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the temporary 
differences can be utilised. 
 
Deferred tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit or loss. Deferred tax 
items are recognised in correlation to the underlying transaction either in other comprehensive income or 
directly in equity and deferred tax arising from a business combination is adjusted against goodwill on 
acquisition. 
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets 
against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same tax authority and where there is 
intention to settle the current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis. 
 
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences associated with investments in 
subsidiaries, an associate and joint ventures, except where the timing of the reversal of the temporary 
difference can be controlled by the Group and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in 
the foreseeable future. 

 
2.25 Segment reporting 

 
For management purposes, the Group is organised into operating segments based on their products and 
services which are independently managed by the respective segment managers responsible for the 
performance of the respective segments under their charge. The segment managers report directly to the chief 
operating decision maker of the Group who regularly review the segment results in order to allocate resources 
to the segments and to assess the segment performance. Additional disclosures on each of these segments 
are shown in Note 37 to the financial statements, including the factors used to identify the reportable 
segments and the measurement basis of segment information. 

 
2.26 Equity instruments 

 
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after 
deducting all of its liabilities. 
 
Ordinary shares are classified as equity and recognised at the fair value of the consideration received. 
Incremental costs directly attributable to the issuance of new equity instruments are shown in the equity as a 
deduction from the proceeds. 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued) 

 
2.26 Equity instruments (Continued) 

 
When shares recognised as equity are reacquired, the amount of consideration paid is recognised directly in 
equity. Reacquired shares are classified as treasury shares and presented as a deduction from total equity. No 
gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale or cancellation of treasury shares. 
 
When treasury shares are subsequently cancelled, the cost of treasury shares are deducted against the share 
capital account if the shares are purchased out of capital of the Company, or against the retained earnings of 
the Company if the shares are purchased out of earnings of the Company. 
 
When treasury shares are subsequently sold or reissued pursuant to the employee share option scheme, the 
cost of treasury shares is reversed from the treasury share account and the realised gain or loss on sale or 
reissue, net of any directly attributable incremental transaction costs and related income tax, is recognised 
within the statement of changes in equity of the Company. 
 

2.27 Provisions 
 
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past 
event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the 
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. When the Group expects 
some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, for example, under an insurance contract, the reimbursement is 
recognised as a separate asset, but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain. The expense relating to 
any provision is presented in the income statement net of any reimbursement. 

 
Provisions are measured at the management’s best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the 
obligation at the end of the reporting period, and are discounted to present value where the effect is 
material. 
 
Provisions are reviewed at the end of each reporting period and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. 
If it is no longer probable that an outflow of economic resources will be required to settle the obligation, the 
provision is reversed. If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a 
pre tax rate that reflects, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. When discounting is used, the 
increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as a finance cost. 
 
Provisions for warranty-related costs are recognised when the product is sold or service provided to the 
customer. Initial recognition is based on historical experience. The initial estimate of warranty-related costs 
is revised annually. 
 

2.28 Contingencies 
 
A contingent liability is: 
 
(a) a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the 

occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of 
the Group; or  

(b) a present obligation that arises from past events but is not recognised because: 
 
(i) it is not probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to 

settle the obligation; or 
 

(ii) the amount of the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability. 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued) 

 
2.28 Contingencies (Continued) 

 
A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only 
by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of 
the Group. 
 
Contingencies are not recognised on the statements of financial position, except for contingent liabilities 
assumed in a business combination that are present obligations and for which the fair value can be reliably 
determined. 
 
 

3. Significant accounting judgements and estimates 
 
The preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial statements requires management to make judgements, 
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities and the 
accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities at the reporting date. Uncertainty about these 
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment to the carrying amount 
of the asset or liability affected in the future periods. 
 
3.1 Judgements made in applying accounting policies 

 
In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following judgements 
which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements: 
 
(i) Impairment of financial assets 

 
The Group follows the guidance of IAS 39 in determining whether the financial asset is impaired. This 
determination requires significant judgement. The Group evaluates, among other factors, the duration 
and extent to which the fair value of the financial asset is less than its carrying amount and the 
financial health of and near-term business outlook for the financial asset, including factors such as 
industry and sector performance, changes in technology and operational and financing cash flows. 
 

3.2 Key sources of estimation uncertainty 
 
The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting 
date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities within the next financial year, are described below. The Group based its assumptions and estimates 
on parameters available when the consolidated financial statements were prepared. Existing circumstances 
and assumptions about future developments, however, may change due to market changes or circumstances 
arising beyond the control of the Group. Such changes are reflected in the assumptions when they occur. 

 
(i) Provision for inventory obsolescence 

 
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The cost of inventories determined 
by management is disclosed in Note 2.20. The management estimates the net realisable value of 
inventories based on assessment of committed sales prices, estimated future pricing, recent sales 
activities and market positioning of the products. Such factors may require the Group to reduce the 
value of its inventories to net realisable value. However, factors beyond its control, such as demand 
levels, technological advances and pricing competition, could change from period to period. The 
carrying amount of the Group’s inventories as at 31 December 2017 was approximately RM382,043,000 
(2016: RM2,398,304,000). 
 

  



NOTES TO THE 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2017

NAM CHEONG LIMITED
80

NAM CHEONG LIMITED 
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
 

Page 35

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
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3. Significant accounting judgements and estimates (Continued) 
 

3.2 Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued) 
 

 
 (ii) Impairment of trade and other receivables 

 
The management establishes provision for impairment on a case-by-case basis when they believe 
that payment of amounts owed is unlikely to occur. In establishing these provisions, the management 
considers the historical experience and changes to the customers’ financial position. If the financial 
conditions of debtors were to deteriorate, resulting in impairment of their abilities to make the 
required payments, additional provisions may be required. The carrying amounts of the Group’s and 
the Company’s trade and other receivables as at 31 December 2017 were approximately RM81,876,000 
(2016: RM128,012,000) and Nil (2016: RM100,576,000) respectively. 
 

(iii) Construction contracts 
 
The Group recognises contract revenue based on the percentage of completion method and when the 
outcome of a construction contract can be estimated reliably. Significant judgement is required in 
determining the stage of completion and the probability that the economic benefits associated with 
the contract will flow to the entity. In making the judgment, the Group rely on past experience and 
work of specialists. The Group assess the work-in-progress with any indication of foreseeable losses. 
As at 31 December 2017, the carrying amount of the Group’s work-in-progress, due from customer on 
contracts and due to customer on contracts were approximately RM360,913,000 (2016: M2,372,813,000), 
RM38,484,000 (2016: RM462,398,000) and RM700,000 (2016: RM3,791,000) respectively. 
 

 (iv) Impairment of investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and an associate 
 
At the end of each financial year, an assessment is made on whether there are indicators that the 
investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and an associate are impaired. The management’s 
assessment of the recoverable amount is based on higher of the value-in-use of the CGU by 
forecasting the expected future cash flows for a period up to 5 years, and determining the terminal 
value based on suitable growth rate and discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those 
cash flows or fair value less cost of disposal. The Company’s carrying amount of investments in 
subsidiaries, joint ventures and an associate as at 31 December 2017 was Nil (2016: RM2,307,317,000), 
RM4,041,000 (2016: RM10,957,000) and RM23,840,000 (2016: RM74,840,000) respectively. 
 

(v) Impairment of property, plant and equipment 
 
The Group carries out impairment assessment on property, plant and equipment using higher of 
value-in-use and fair value less cost of disposal of these plant and equipment. The value-in-use 
calculations require the entity to estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from these plant 
and equipment and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate present value. The carrying amount 
of plant and equipment as at 31 December 2017 was RM237,128,000 (2016: RM389,077,000) and during 
the year an impairment loss of RM346,767,000 (2016: RM3,554,000) was recognised. 
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4.   Material uncertainty related to going concern 

 
In the financial year ended 31 December 2017, the Group received several letters of demand as well as reservation of 
rights letters from its bank lenders and trade creditors. The Group has various obligations owed to bank lenders and 
trade creditors that have fallen due and will fall due from time to time in the near future. These obligations include 
the Group’s loan and borrowings that were classified as current liabilities amounted to RM1,639,247,000 and amount 
payables to shipyards of RM1,051,012,000 that are included in the Group’s trade payables exceeded the Group’s cash 
and bank balances and fixed deposits of RM224,417,000 as at 31 December 2017. In addition, the Group and the 
Company are in net capital deficit of RM1,660,411,000 and RM1,577,803,000 respectively as at 31 December 2017. 
 
In assessing whether the Group can meet its debt obligations for at least the next 12 months, management has 
prepared cash flows forecasts for the next 18 months with the following key assumptions: 
 
(i) The Schemes (as disclosed below) relating to loans and borrowings owing to banks and MTN holders have been 

approved by a majority of more than 80% of creditors present and voting at the Court convened meetings and 
the Group had obtained sanction of the NCD Scheme and NCI Scheme by The High Court of Malaya (“Malaya 
Court”) and had applied for sanction of the NCL Scheme by The High Court of the Republic of Singapore 
(“Singapore Court”). As at the date of the financial statements, the Group is in the process of satisfying certain 
condition precedents to the Schemes in order for the Schemes to be effective.  
  

(ii) Subsequent to the financial year (Note 39 to the financial statements), the Group entered into a Master 
Framework Agreement (“MFA”) with certain shipyards to restructure its debt obligations. The Company’s 
obligations under the MFA are subject to the sanction of the NCL Scheme (as disclosed below) by Singapore Court 
and the effectiveness of the NCL Scheme. 
 

(iii) The Group is in the process of discussing a debt settlement arrangement with other shipyards. The Group believe 
that they are able to restructure the debt obligations subsequent to the financial year. 
 

(iv) The Group has sufficient cash inflows generated by its shipbuilding and chartering segment based on certain 
projected revenue. 

 
The above events and conditions indicate the existence of material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt on 
the Group’s and Company’s ability to continue as going concern.  
 
The Directors of the Company are of the opinion that it is appropriate to prepare the financial statements of the 
Group and the Company on a going concern basis on the assumption that the Schemes become effective and no 
claims from the Group’s trade creditors, which are not part of the Schemes, that are reasonably likely to have a 
material effect on the Group’s financial conditions and operations are brought against the Group, and taking into 
account the Group’s internal resources, operating cashflows, working capital facilities and the estimated proceeds 
from the proposed rights issue related to the NCL Scheme. 
 
If the Group and the Company are unable to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future, the Group 
and the Company may be unable to discharge their liabilities in the normal course of business and adjustments may 
have to be made to reflect the situation that assets may need to be realised other than in the normal course of 
business and at amounts which could differ significantly from the amounts at which they are currently recorded in 
the statements of financial positions. In addition, the Group and the Company may need to reclassify non-current 
assets. No such adjustments have been made to these financial statements. 
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4.   Material uncertainty related to going concern (Continued) 
 

Schemes of arrangement 
 

As at 31 December 2017, the loans and borrowings owing to banks and multicurrency medium term notes holders 
amounted to RM1,639,247,000 (Note 28 to the financial statements).  
  
Since early 2017, the Company appointed financial and legal advisors to advise and assist the Group in developing 
options and solutions for it to fully meet its debt obligations. Schemes of Arrangement (“Schemes”) were proposed by 
the Group to the creditors. Below are the key milestones achieved by the Group in connection to the Schemes: 
 
(a) The Company had successfully sought an order from the Singapore Court pursuant to an application made to the 

Singapore Court under Section 211B(1) of the Companies Act (Cap.50) and/or the inherent jurisdiction of the 
Singapore Court that, among other things, for a period of six  months from 6 October 2017 or until further order, 
no action or proceedings in Singapore or elsewhere shall be commenced or continued against Nam Cheong 
Limited and no step to enforce any security over any property of the Company shall be taken or continued in 
Singapore or elsewhere, except with the consent of the Company or the leave of the Singapore Court and subject 
to such terms as the Singapore Court imposes (“Moratorium”); 
 

(b) Pursuant to an application to the Singapore Court under Section 210 and 211B of the Singapore Companies Act 
(Cap 50) on 27 October 2017, the Company received the Court’s approval to convene a meeting of its creditors to 
consider, and if thought fit approve, a proposed Scheme of Arrangement with its creditors (“NCL Scheme”) 
within three months from the hearing date. On 24 January 2018, the Company held its meeting with its creditors 
and obtained their approval of the NCL Scheme. A majority of 97.047% in number representing 94.13% of the 
value of the Company’s creditors voted for the NCL Scheme; 

 
(c) Pursuant to an application to Malaya Court under Sections 366 and 369 of the Malaysia Companies Act 2016 on 15 

November 2017, Nam Cheong Dockyard Sdn Bhd and Nam Cheong International Limited received the Malaya 
Court’s approval to convene the meeting of their respective creditors to consider, and if thought fit approve, the 
proposed Scheme of Arrangement between NCI and its creditors (“NCI Scheme”) and the proposed Scheme of 
Arrangement between NCD and its creditors (“NCD Scheme”) within ninety days from the hearing date. On 22 
January 2018, NCD and NCI each held their meeting with their respective creditors and obtained their approval of 
the NCI Scheme and NCD Scheme. A majority of 80.954% of the total value of the creditors have voted for the 
NCD Scheme and a majority of 95.407% of the total value of the creditors have voted for the NCI Scheme; 

 
(d) On 19 January 2018, the major shareholder of the Company deposited the Committed Sum of RM50 million into 

the escrow account for the purposes of fulfilling his obligations pursuant to the irrevocable undertaking as per 
the NCL Scheme; and 

 
(e) On 3 April 2018, the Company successfully obtained an order from the Singapore Court extending the Moratorium 

for a period of four months until 6 August 2018 or until further order. 
 
Other than the above, the Group is in the process of satisfying certain condition precedents to the Schemes in order 
for the Schemes to be effective, including sanction of the NCL Scheme by the Singapore Court. 
 
The Schemes are expected to be implemented in 2018. The successful implementation of the Schemes will enable the 
Group to strengthen its financial position.  
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5. Revenue 

 

 Group 

 2017 2016 

 RM’000 RM’000 

Shipbuilding    

- build-to-stock 238,739 82,273 

- build-to-order 640 39,660 

 239,379 121,933 

Chartering income 80,199 48,491 

 319,578 170,424 
 
In 2016, included in the shipbuilding revenue was chartering income amounting to RM24,481,000. To better reflect 
the nature of the transactions, the Group reclassified the revenue to chartering income in the current financial year. 
The reclassification did not have any impact on the Group’s revenue, but only affected the revenue classification 
disclosed in Note 37 on segment information.  
 

 Group 

 
As previously 

reported Reclassification As above 

 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 

Shipbuilding  146,414 (24,481) 121,933 

Chartering income 24,010 24,481 48,491 

 170,424 - 170,424 
 
 

6. Cost of sales 
 

 Group 

 2017 2016 

 RM’000 RM’000 

Shipbuilding   

- cost of construction 225,817 118,366 

- depreciation of property, plant and equipment 18,767 20,709 

Chartering cost 39,174 22,896 

 283,758 161,971 
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7.  Other income 

 

 Group 

 2017 2016 

 RM’000 RM’000 

Foreign exchange gain, net - 44,287 

Forfeiture deposit received 5,828 46,218 

Gain on disposal of freehold property 7,081 - 

Interest income 5,444 4,979 

Rental income from investment properties 3,602 3,267 

Miscellaneous 2,237 2,043 

Insurance claims received - 1,258 

Net fair value gain on derivatives - 2,378 

Allowance for trade receivables written back 2 1,635 

 24,194 106,065 
 
 
8. Finance costs 

 

 Group 

 2017 2016 

 RM’000 RM’000 

Interest expense:   

- Bank borrowings 42,074 25,236 

- Medium term notes  56,880 58,592 

Total interest expense 98,954 83,828 

Amortisation of debt issuance cost 6,064 7,071 

Less: Interest capitalised in cost of construction (Note 22) (31,627) (75,436)

 73,391 15,463 
 
The capitalisation rate used to determine the amount of borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation was 1.20% (2016: 
3.80%), which is the effective interest rate of the specific borrowings.  
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9. Loss before income tax 

 
In addition to the charges and credits disclosed elsewhere in the notes to the financial statements, the above 
includes the following charges and credits: 
 

 Group 

 2017 2016 

 RM’000 RM’000 

Selling and administrative expenses   

Audit fees   

- auditor of the Company 239 273 

- other auditors 227 353 

Non-audit fees   

- auditor of the Company - - 

- other auditors - - 

Loss on disposal of available-for-sale financial assets 1,170 2,713 

Amortisation of prepaid land lease payments 108 108 

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 447 179 

Depreciation of investment properties  930 1,298 

Operating lease expense 484 801 

Employee benefits expense   

- salaries, bonus and other benefits 15,354 22,145 

- defined contribution plans 1,016 1,479 
 

Other operating expenses   

Foreign exchange loss, net 33,375 - 

Loss on disposal of plant and equipment - 3,264 

Allowance for trade and other receivables 71,732 1,196 

Bad debts written off 3,389 15 

Inventories written down 2,085,877 59,772 

Prepayments for inventories written off 105,899 19,929 

Contract termination expenses relating to prepayments for inventories 8,363 - 

Impairment on investment in an associate 5,237 3,445 

Impairment on property, plant and equipment 346,767  3,554 

Plant and equipment written off 482 - 

Dry docking expenses 2,719 - 

Impairment on investment properties 15,233 - 

Impairment on amount due from customers on contracts 198,660 - 

Inventories written off 639 - 

Restructuring expenses 8,708 - 

Provision for corporate guarantee 32,380 - 
 
The employee benefits expense include the remuneration of Directors and other key management personnel as 
disclosed in Note 32 to the financial statements. 
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10. Income tax (credit)/expense 

 

 Group 

 2017 2016 

 RM’000 RM’000 

Current income tax   

- current financial year 100 144 

- under provision in prior financial years 345 5 

 445 149 

   

Deferred tax   

- current financial year (598) - 

- overprovision in prior financial years (660) - 

 (1,258) - 

Total income tax (credit)/expense recognised in profit or loss (813) 149 
 
Income tax for various jurisdictions are calculated at the rates prevailing in the respective jurisdictions. 
 
A reconciliation of income tax applicable to loss before income tax at the statutory income tax rate to income tax 
(credit)/expense at the effective income tax rate of the Group is as follows: 
 

 Group 

 2017 2016 

 RM’000 RM’000 

   

Loss before income tax (3,018,588) (42,622)

Share of results of equity accounted joint ventures and associate 51,546 7,678 

 (2,967,042) (34,944)
   

Income tax at the applicable tax rates (455,815) 35,028 

Income not subject to tax (266) (43,118)

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 421,668 7,130 

Deferred tax assets not recognised 36,157 1,104 

Deferred tax expenses relating to reversal of temporary difference (117) - 

Utilisation of previously unrecognised deferred tax assets (2,114) - 

Over provision of deferred tax in previous financial years (660) - 

Under provision of current income tax in previous financial years 345 5 

Corporate income tax rebate (11) - 

Income tax (credit)/expense for the financial year (813) 149 
 
Unrecognised deferred tax assets 
 

 Group 

 2017 2016

 RM’000 RM’000

Balance at beginning of financial year 12,208 11,104 

Deferred tax assets not recognised 36,157 1,104 

Utilisation of previously unrecognised deferred tax assets (2,114) - 

Balance at end of financial year 46,251 12,208 
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10. Income tax (credit)/expense (Continued) 

 
Unrecognised deferred tax assets (Continued) 
 
The unrecognised deferred tax assets are attributable to the following temporary differences: 
 

 Group 

 2017 2016

 RM’000 RM’000

Unutilised tax losses 38,013 9,917 

Unabsorbed capital allowance 8,238 2,291 

 46,251 12,208 
 

As at 31 December 2017, the Group has unutilised tax losses of approximately RM158,388,000 (2016: RM41,319,000) and 
unabsorbed capital allowances of approximately RM34,326,000 (2016: RM9,549,000) which is available for offset 
against future taxable profits which has no expiry date and subject to the agreement by the tax authorities and 
provisions of the tax legislations of Malaysia. These deferred tax assets have not been recognised as there is no 
certainty that there will be sufficient future taxable profits to realise these future benefits. Accordingly, these 
deferred tax assets have not been recognised in the financial statements in accordance with the accounting policy in 
Note 2.24 to the financial statements. 

 
 
11. Loss per share 

 
Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing net loss for the financial year attributable to owners of the parent by the 
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year. 
 
The following reflects the income and share data used in the basic and diluted loss per share computation: 
 

 Group 

 2017 2016 

Loss after income tax attributable to owners of the parent (RM’000) (3,020,051) (42,014)

   
Weighted average of ordinary shares during the financial year applicable to 

basic and diluted loss per share (’000) 2,096,466 2,096,466 

   

Basic loss per share (in sen) (144.05) (2.00)

Diluted loss per share (in sen) (144.05) (2.00)
 
For the purpose of calculating diluted loss per share, loss attributable to equity holders of the parent and the 
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding are adjusted for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary 
shares. 

 
As the Group has no dilutive potential ordinary shares, the diluted loss per share is equivalent to basic loss per share 
for the financial year. 
 
There have been no other transactions involving ordinary shares or potential ordinary shares between the reporting 
date and the date of completion of these financial statements. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017  
 
 
12. Property, plant and equipment (Continued) 

 
(a) Net carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment pledged as security for borrowings (Note 28) as at the 

end of the reporting period are as follows: 
 

 Group 

 2017 2016 

 RM’000 RM’000 

Assets under loans and borrowings   

Vessels 45,047 89,692 

Buildings - 6,905 

 45,047 96,597 
 

(b) The cost of fully depreciated property, plant and equipment, which are still in use, as at the end of the 
reporting period are as follows: 
 

 Group 

 2017 2016 

 RM’000 RM’000 

Launching ways, plant and machinery 24,086 8,577 

Motor vehicles 1,593 1,588 

Furniture, fixtures and office equipment 1,287 692 

 26,966 10,857 
 

(c) Certain motor vehicles of the Group are registered in the name of a director with net carrying amount as at 
the end of the reporting period as follows: 

 

 Group 

 2017 2016 

 RM’000 RM’000 

Motor vehicles 14 35 
 

(d) Assets under construction 
 
The Group’s work-in-progress relate to direct expenditure which mainly comprise of materials and labour 
cost incurred for yard expansion in the course of construction. 
 

(e) During the financial year, the Group increased property, plant and equipment at an aggregate cost of 
RM246,057,000 (2016: RM87,000) of which RM243,135,000 (2016: RM Nil) was transferred from inventories. 
Accordingly, the cash outflow on acquisition of property, plant and equipment was amounted to RM2,922,000 
(2016: RM87,000). 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 
 
 
12. Property, plant and equipment (Continued) 

 
(f) The following express conditions and restrictions on the Group’s leasehold land: 

 
(i) the land shall be used only for industrial purposes; 
(ii) the industrial activity to be carried out as prescribed under the Natural Resource Environment Order 

1994; 
(iii) the development or redevelopment and use of the land shall be in accordance with plans, sections 

and elevations approved by the Government; 
(iv) no residential accommodation other than accommodation for a watchman; 
(v) no transfer affecting the land may be effected without the consent; and 
(vi) no sublease affecting the land may be effected without the consent. 
 
The Group is required by the Government to surrender the leasehold land upon refund of all payment from 
the Government made by the Group if the building is not completed within 7 years beginning October 2013. In 
2015, the Group had completed the erection of the building on the leasehold land in accordance with 
detailed drawings and specifications approved by the Miri City Council. In the previous financial years, the 
Government had waived payment from the Group amounting to RM2,756,000. 

 
(g) In the previous financial year, the Group carried out a review of the recoverable amount of its vessels for 

chartering segment due to the deterioration in operating results following the market downturn. The review 
led to the recognition of an impairment loss of RM3,554,000 that had been recognised in profit or loss and 
included in other operating expenses. The recoverable amount of the vessels of RM377,944,000 had been 
determined on the basis of their value in use. The discount rate used in measuring value in use was 5.36%. If 
the discount rate applied had been 0.1% lower/higher than management’s estimate at 31 December 2016, the 
Group would have recognised a decrease/increase in impairment loss on plant and equipment of 
RM3,200,000 in the financial statements. 
 
Due to the recent debt restructuring exercise and to reflect the value of the asset that may need to be realised 
to discharge its liabilities, the Group has appointed an independent professional valuation firm to value 
chartering segment vessels held by the Group based on “as is, where is” sales at their current locations, 
between a willing buyer and a willing. The valuation method involves understanding of vessel’s specification 
and general arrangement, review vessels historical valuation record including previous and recent actual sales 
transaction in the market, consideration of market conditions and inherent values of the vessels. The fair 
value measurement is categorised as level 3 under the fair value hierarchy. The valuation conforms to 
International Valuation Standards. With reference to the valuation report, the fair value of the vessels is 
RM232,744,000. This led to the recognition of an impairment loss of RM342,990,000 (2016: Nil) that has been 
recognised in profit or loss and included in other operating expenses. 
 

(h) During the current financial year, due to the reasons as mentioned above, the Group also carried out an 
assessment of the recoverable amount of other property, plant and equipment in the shipbuilding segment 
based on the valuation done by independent professional valuation firms. The valuation were prepared 
based on market value of the assets, including consideration of the location, accessibility and neighborhood. 
The fair value measurement is categorized as level 3 under the fair value hierarchy. The valuation conforms to 
International Valuation Standards. The review led to the recognition of an impairment loss of RM3,777,000 
(2016: Nil) that has been recognised in profit or loss and included in other operating expenses.  
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 



NOTES TO THE 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2017

ANNUAL REPORT 2017
93

NAM CHEONG LIMITED 
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
 

Page 48

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
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13. Prepaid land lease payments 

 

 Group 

 2017 2016

 RM’000 RM’000

Cost  

Balance at beginning and end of financial year 10,352 10,352 
  

Accumulated amortisation   

Balance at beginning of financial year 2,949 2,679 

Amortisation for the financial year 270 270 

- Recognised in profit or loss 108 108 

- Capitalised in construction costs 162 162 
   

Balance at end of financial year 3,219 2,949 
   

Net carrying amount   

Balance at end of financial year 7,133 7,403 
 
The Group has land use rights over four plots of state-owned land in Malaysia where the Group’s operations reside. 
The land use rights are not transferable and have a remaining tenure of 5 to 47 years (2016: 6 to 48 years). 
 
As at 31 December 2017, prepaid land lease payments with a net carrying amount of RM6.5 million (2016: RM6.6 
million) are pledged for the Group’s borrowings (Note 28). 

 
 
14. Investment properties 

 

 Group 

 2017 2016

 RM’000 RM’000

Cost   

Balance at beginning of financial year 96,721 94,816 

Transferred to asset-held-for-sale (95,611) - 

Exchange differences (1,110) 1,905 

Balance at end of financial year - 96,721 
   

Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses   

Balance at beginning of financial year 3,937 2,575 

Depreciation for the financial year 930 1,298 

Impairment loss for the financial year 15,233 - 

Transferred to asset-held-for-sale (20,055) - 

Exchange differences (45) 64 

Balance at end of financial year - 3,937 
   

Net carrying amount   

Balance at end of financial year - 92,784 



NOTES TO THE 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2017

NAM CHEONG LIMITED
94

NAM CHEONG LIMITED 
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
 

Page 49

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 
 
 
14. Investment properties (Continued) 

 
On 21 September 2017, the Company entered into sale and purchase agreement with a third party purchaser to 
dispose its investment properties at a consideration of RM75,556,000 (equivalent to S$25,040,560). The transaction 
was completed on 9 February 2018. 
 
Upon the commitment to dispose the investment properties, the investment properties was classified as asset-held-
for-sale (Note 24) and written down to its recoverable amount of RM75,556,000 based on fair value less cost to sell. 
The resulting fair values of investment properties are considered level 1 recurring fair value measurements and is 
based on sales consideration. Consequently, an impairment loss of RM15,233,000 (equivalent to S$4,970,034) has 
been recognised in other operating expenses.  
 
In the previous financial year, the Group’s investment properties were valued as at 31 December 2016 by an 
independent professional valuation firm with experience in the location and category of the investment properties 
held by the Group. The valuations of RM80,600,000 (equivalent to S$26,000,000) were arrived based on direct 
comparison with recent transactions of comparable properties within the vicinity, taken into consideration on 
prevailing market conditions and have made due adjustments to comparable transactions for differences in location, 
tenure, size, shape, design and layout, age and condition of buildings, dates of transactions and other factors 
affecting its value. The resulting fair values of investment properties are considered level 3 recurring fair value 
measurements and was based on highest and best use. 
 
As at 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016, the Group's properties with a net carrying amount of RM74,676,000 
(Note 24) and RM92,784,000 respectively had been pledged to a financial institution as security for bank facilities 
granted to a subsidiary, Nam Cheong International Limited. 
 
The Group’s investment properties were held under leasehold interests. 

 
The following amounts are recognised in profit or loss: 
 

 Group 

 2017 2016

 RM’000 RM’000

Rental income from investment properties 3,602 3,267 

Property tax 255 287 

Repair and maintenance 198 217 
 
 

  



NOTES TO THE 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2017

ANNUAL REPORT 2017
95

NAM CHEONG LIMITED 
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
 

Page 50

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 
 
 
15. Investments in subsidiaries 

 

 Company 

 2017 2016

 RM’000 RM’000

Unquoted shares, at cost 1,143,476 1,143,476 

Employee’s share grant, cost 213 213 

Allowance for impairment loss (1,143,689) (64,501)

Balance at end of financial year - 1,079,188 

   

Amount due from a subsidiary 1,228,129 1,228,129 

Allowance for impairment loss (1,228,129) - 

 - 1,228,129 

Total - 2,307,317 
 
Movement in the allowance for impairment loss are as follows: 
 

 Company 

 2017 2016

 RM’000 RM’000

Balance at beginning of financial year 64,501 64,501 

Impairment loss recognised during the financial year 2,307,317 - 

Balance at end of financial year 2,371,818 64,501 
 
As at 31 December 2017, the Group carried out a review of the recoverable amount of the investment in Nam Cheong 
Dockyard Sdn Bhd, the shipbuilding segment due to its continued loss making performance and facing financial 
difficulty in debt settlement, and other subsidiaries that provided corporate services in Singapore. The review led to 
the recognition of an impairment loss of RM2,307,317,000 (2016: RM Nil) that has been recognised in profit or loss. As 
the subsidiaries are in net liabilities position, the management has determined that the recoverable amount which is 
based on fair value less cost of disposal to be nil.  
 
Gross amount due from a subsidiary is denominated in the following currencies: 
 

 Company 

 2017 2016

 RM’000 RM’000

Singapore dollar 1,050,965 1,050,965 

United States dollar 177,164 177,164 

 1,228,129 1,228,129 
 
Amount due from a subsidiary is unsecured and bears interest ranges 5% to 6.5% (2016: 5% to 6.5%) per annum. The 
settlement is neither planned nor likely to occur in the foreseeable future. As the amount is, in substance, a part of 
the Company’s net investment in subsidiaries, it is stated at cost less impairment losses, if any, during the financial 
year. 
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15. Investments in subsidiaries (Continued) 

 
Details of the subsidiaries are as follows: 
 

Name of subsidiaries 

Country of 
incorporation and 
principal place of 

business 
Principal 
activities 

Proportion of 
ownership 

interest 

Non-controlling 
interests 

ownerships/ 
voting interest 

   2017 2016 2017 2016 

   % % % % 

Nam Cheong Dockyard Sdn. Bhd.(2) Malaysia Shipbuilding 100 100 - - 

Nam Cheong Offshore Pte. Ltd.(1) Singapore Shipbuilding 100 100 - - 

Nam Cheong Capital Pte. Ltd.(1) Singapore Dormant 100 100 - - 

Nam Cheong International Ltd.(2) Federal Territory 
of Labuan, 
Malaysia 

Shipbuilding 100 100 - - 

S.K. Marine Sdn. Bhd.(2) Malaysia Vessel 
chartering 

100 100 - - 

Nam Cheong Marine Ltd.(3) The Republic 
of the Marshall 

Islands 

Dormant 100 100 - - 

Nam Cheong Marine Pte. Ltd.(1) Singapore Vessel 
chartering 

100 100 - - 

NC Design Pte. Ltd.(1) Singapore Design 
services 

100 100 - - 

Nam Cheong Pioneer Sdn. Bhd.(2) Malaysia Investment 
holding 

100 100 - - 

SKOSV Sdn. Bhd.(2) Malaysia Vessel 
chartering 

70 70 30 30 

Nam Cheong (Labuan) Ltd.(2) Federal Territory 
of Labuan, 
Malaysia 

Vessel 
chartering 

100 100 - - 

Nam Cheong OSV Ltd.(2) Federal Territory 
of Labuan, 
Malaysia 

Vessel 
chartering 

100 100 - - 

Nam Cheong Venture Ltd.(2) Federal Territory 
of Labuan, 
Malaysia 

Vessel 
chartering 

100 100 - - 

SK Venture Ltd.(2) Federal Territory 
of Labuan, 
Malaysia 

Vessel 
chartering 

100 100 - - 

SK Machines Ltd.(2) Federal Territory 
of Labuan, 
Malaysia 

Trading 100 100 - - 

Nam Cheong Property Pte. Ltd.(1) Singapore Investment 
holding 

100 100 - - 
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15. Investments in subsidiaries (Continued) 

 

Name of subsidiaries 

Country of 
incorporation and 
principal place of 

business 
Principal 
activities 

Proportion of 
ownership 

interest 

Non-controlling 
interests 

ownerships/ 
voting interest 

   2017 2016 2017 2016 

   % % % % 

SK Global Ltd.(2) Federal Territory 
of Labuan, 
Malaysia 

Vessel 
chartering  

100 100 - - 

SK Pride Ltd.(2) Federal Territory 
of Labuan, 
Malaysia 

Vessel 
chartering  

100 100 - - 

SK Patriot Ltd.(2) Federal Territory 
of Labuan, 
Malaysia 

Vessel 
chartering  

100 100 - - 

SK Power Ltd.(2) Federal Territory 
of Labuan, 
Malaysia 

Vessel 
chartering  

100 100 - - 

SK Precious Ltd.(2) Federal Territory 
of Labuan, 
Malaysia 

Vessel 
chartering  

100 100 - - 

SK Prudence Ltd.(2) Federal Territory 
of Labuan, 
Malaysia 

Vessel 
chartering  

100 100 - - 

SK Offshore & Marine Sdn. Bhd (2) Malaysia Vessel 
Chartering  

100 100 - - 

SK Capital Ltd. (2) Federal Territory 
of Labuan, 
Malaysia 

Vessel 
Chartering  

100 100 - - 

SKOM Ltd. (2) Federal Territory 
of Labuan, 
Malaysia 

Vessel 
Chartering  

100 100 - - 

 
(1) Audited by BDO LLP, Singapore 
(2) Audited by BDO, Malaysia 
(3) Reviewed by BDO, Malaysia 
 
The non-controlling interests of SKOSV Sdn. Bhd. that is not 100% owned by the Group is considered to be 
insignificant. 

 
 
16. Investments in joint ventures 

 

 Group 

 2017 2016

 RM’000 RM’000

Unquoted shares, at cost 13,464 13,464 

Share of post-acquisition results (9,423) (2,507)

 4,041 10,957 
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16. Investments in joint ventures (continued) 
 

The Group has interest in joint ventures through separate structure vehicles incorporated and operating in Malaysia 
and Indonesia. The contractual arrangements provides the Group with only the rights to the net assets of the joint 
arrangements. Under IFRS 11, these joint arrangements is classified as a joint ventures and have been included in the 
consolidated financial statements using the equity method. 
 
Details of the joint ventures are as follows: 
 

Name of joint ventures 

Country of 
incorporation and 
principal place of 

business 
Principal 
activity 

Proportion of 
ownership interest 

   2017 2016 

   % % 

Synergy Kenyalang Offshore Sdn. Bhd.*  (“SKO”) Malaysia Vessel 
chartering 

40 40 

     

P.T. Bahtera Niaga Indonesia ** (“PTBNI”) Indonesia Vessel 
chartering 

49 49 

     

Marco Polo Offshore (IV) Pte Ltd *** (“MPO”) Federal Territory 
of Labuan, 
Malaysia 

Vessel 
chartering 

50 50 

 
*  Audited by BDO, Malaysia 
**  Reviewed by BDO, Malaysia 
*** Audited by Mazars, Malaysia 
 
The principal activities of those joint ventures are in line with the Group’s strategy to expand the vessel chartering. 
 
The summarised financial information below reflects the amounts presented in the financial statements of two 
material joint ventures, SKO and MPO, and not the Group’s share of those amounts, adjusted for differences in 
accounting policies between the Group and the joint ventures. 
 

 Group 

 MPO MPO SKO SKO Total 

 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016

 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Assets and liabilities     

Cash and cash equivalents 657 2,661 22,215 35,723 22,872 38,384 

Trade receivables 7,632 25,097 3,720 685 11,352 25,782 

Other current assets - 403 - 972 - 1,375 

Current assets  8,289 28,161 25,935 37,380 34,224 65,541 

Non-current assets 20,238 127,418 60,338 68,725 85,498 196,143 

Total assets 28,527 155,579 86,273 106,105 119,722 261,684 
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16. Investments in joint ventures (Continued) 

 

 Group 

 MPO MPO SKO SKO Total 

 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016

 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Assets and liabilities (continued)     

Current liabilities  (36,095) (34,532) (26,091) (56,069) (61,764) (90,601)

Non-current liabilities (64,760) (74,339) (29,804) (12,232) (94,564) (86,571)

Total liabilities (100,855) (108,871) (55,895) (68,301) (156,328) (177,172)

Net assets (72,328) 46,708 30,378 37,804 (36,606) 84,512 
       
Proportion of the Group’s 

ownership 50% 50% 40% 40%   

Share of net assets/(liabilities) (36,164) 23,354 12,151 15,121 (21,341) 38,475 
Joint ventures losses in excess of 

equity interest 36,164 - - - 33,492 - 

 - 23,354 12,151 15,121 12,151 38,475 
 

Included in the current and non-
current liabilities are:      

Current financial liabilities 
(excluding trade and other 
payables and provision) (36,095) (33,050) (7,813) (45,639) (43,486) (78,689)

Non-current financial liabilities 
(excluding trade and other 
payables and provision) (64,760) (71,149) (29,804) (12,232) (94,564) (83,381)

     

Income and expenses     

Revenue  6,252 24,070 10,817 13,478 17,069 37,548 

Operating expenses (117,297) (311) (17,759) (7,068) (129,422) (7,379)

Depreciation and amortisation  (5,493) (7,021) - (4,539) (5,493) (11,560)

Interest income - - 7 637 7 637 

Interest expense (4,094) (3,515) (1,590) (2,003) (5,684) (5,518)

Profit before income tax (120,632) 13,223 (8,525) 505 (123,523) 13,728 

Adjustment for prior year profits - - - (520) - (520)

Income tax (expense)/income (19) (2) 1,099 (26) 1,080 (28)
(Loss)/Profit after income tax, 

representing total 
comprehensive income (120,651) 13,221 (7,426) (41) (122,443) 13,180 

     
Proportion of the Group’s 

ownership 50% 50% 40% 40%   

Share of post-tax (losses)/profits (60,326) 6,610 (2,970) (17) (60,479) 6,593 
Joint ventures losses in excess of 

equity interest 58,360 - - - 55,543 - 
Net share of post-tax 

(losses)/profits  (1,966) 6,610 (2,970) (17) (4,936) 6,593 
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16. Investments in joint ventures (Continued) 

 
The summarised financial information of immaterial joint ventures, PTBNI is as follows: 
 

 2017 2016

 RM’000 RM’000

Loss from continuing operations  (5,036) (5,446)

Total comprehensive loss (5,036) (5,446)
 

Reconciliation of summarised financial information presented, to the carrying amount of the Group’s interest in joint 
venture, is as follows: 
 

 Group 

 MPO MPO SKO SKO Total 

 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016

 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Net assets     

At 1 January 23,267 15,234 15,208 15,225 38,475 30,459

(Loss)/Profit for the financial year (1,966) 6,610 (2,970) (17) (4,936) 6,593

Foreign exchange differences (1,979) 1,423 - - (1,979) 1,423 

At 31 December  19,322 23,267 12,328 15,208 31,560 38,475 
Elimination of accumulated 

unrealised profits (19,322) (19,322) (8,197) (8,196) (27,519) (27,518)
Carrying value of material joint 

venture - 3,945 4,041 7,012 4,041 10,957 

Add immaterial joint ventures:     
Carrying value of individually 

immaterial joint ventures     1,888 3,170 

Elimination of unrealised profits     (1,888) (3,170)
Carrying value of the Group’s 

investment in joint ventures   4,041 10,957 
 
The joint ventures had no contingent liabilities and capital commitments as at 31 December 2017 and 31 December 
2016. 
 
The Group has not recognised losses relating to MPO and PTBNI where its share of losses exceeds the Group’s carrying 
amount of its investment in the joint venture. The Group’s cumulative share of unrecognised losses were 
RM71,619,000 (2016: RM8,223,000). The Group has no obligation in respect to those losses. 
 
 

17. Investment in an associate 
 

 Group 

 2017 2016

 RM’000 RM’000

Equity shares, at cost 110,400 110,400 

Share of post-acquisition results (77,878) (32,115)

Allowance for impairment loss (8,682) (3,445)

 23,840 74,840 
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17. Investment in an associate (Continued) 

 
Movement in the allowance for impairment loss are as follows: 
 

 Group 

 2017 2016

 RM’000 RM’000

Balance at beginning of financial year 3,445 - 

Impairment loss recognised during the year 5,237 3,445 

Balance at end of financial year 8,682 3,445 
 
Details of the associate are as follows: 
 

Name of associate 

Country of 
incorporation and 
principal place of 

business 
Principal 
activity 

Proportion of 
ownership interest 

   2017 2016 

   % % 

P.T. Pelayaran Nasional Bina Buana Raya Tbk * Indonesia Vessel 
chartering 

30 30 

 
* Audited by Hertanto, Grace & Karunawan, Indonesia 
 
The principal activities of the associate is in line with the Group’s strategy to expand the vessel chartering business. 
 
The summarised financial information below reflects the amounts presented in the financial statements of the 
associate (and not the Group’s share of those amounts), adjusted for differences in accounting policies between the 
Group and the associate. 
 

 Group 

 2017 2016

 RM’000 RM’000

Assets and liabilities   

Current assets 22,193 31,247 

Non-current assets 376,820 583,783 

Total assets 399,013 615,030 

   

Current liabilities (179,918) (213,058)

Non-current liabilities (80,350) (107,044)

Total liabilities (260,268) (320,102)

Net assets 138,745 294,928 

   

Proportion of the Group’s ownership 30% 30% 

Share of net assets 41,623 88,479 
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17. Investment in an associate (Continued) 

 

 2017 2016

 RM’000 RM’000
Income and expenses   

Revenue  100,593 111,081 

Operating expenses (206,267) (89,138)

Loss on impairment - (20,886)

Depreciation and amortisation  (41,766) (43,662)

Interest income 397 7,283 

Interest expense (10,759) (10,871)

Loss before income tax (157,802) (46,193)

Income tax expense (2,220) (1,378)

Loss after income tax (160,022) (47,571)

Other comprehensive income - - 

Loss after income tax, representing total comprehensive income (160,022) (47,571)
   

Proportion of the Group’s ownership 30% 30% 

Share of post-tax losses  (47,703) (14,271)
 
As at 31 December 2017, the fair value of the Group’s investment in P.T. Pelayaran Nasional Bina Buana Raya Tbk 
(“BBR”), which is listed on the Bursa Efek Indonesia (Indonesia Stock Exchange), was RM23.8 million (2016: RM26.6 
million). The fair value measurement is classified within Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy.  
 
In 2016, the recoverable amount of investment in BBR has been determined on the basis of value-in-use (“VIU”) 
based on the cash flow forecast derived from the most recent financial budgets approved by management for the 
next 5 years. The Group carried out a review of the recoverable amount of the investment in BBR as at 31 December 
2017 due to continuing operating loss in this chartering segment and the debt restructuring proposed by the 
associate. The review led to the recognition of an impairment loss of RM5,237,000 (2016: RM3,445,000) that has been 
recognised in profit or loss. The carrying amount of the Group’s investment in the associate was RM23.8 million (2016: 
RM74.8 million). 
 
Reconciliation of summarised financial information presented, to the carrying amount of the Group’s interest in 
associate, is as follows: 
 

 2017 2016

 RM’000 RM’000

Net assets   

At 1 January 88,479 98,475 

Loss for the financial year (47,703) (14,271)

Foreign exchange differences 847 4,275 

At 31 December  41,623 88,479 

Effect of realisation of profits to profit or loss 1,093 - 

Effect of unrealised profits (10,194) (10,194)

Impairment loss  (8,682) (3,445)

Carrying value of the Group’s investment in associate 23,840 74,840 
 
The investment in associate had no contingent liabilities and capital commitments at 31 December 2017 and 31 
December 2016.  
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18. Available-for-sale financial assets 

 

 Group  

   2017 2016

 RM’000 RM’000

Balance at beginning of financial year 35,158 - 

Fair value loss (2,372) - 

Reclassified from held-to-maturity financial assets - 111,112 

Disposals (26,930) (81,843)

Exchange differences (2,630) 5,889 

Balance at end of financial year 3,226 35,158 
 

Non-current 3,226 30,442 

Current - 4,716 

 3,226 35,158 
 

The available-for-sale financial assets are investments in unquoted debt securities. The average effective interest 
rate of the unquoted debt securities is 4.85% per annum. 
 
As at 31 December 2017, the unquoted debt securities have fair values amounting to RM3.2 million (2016: RM35.1 
million), with coupon rates ranging from 5.5% to 5.85% (2016: 4.75% to 5.35%) per annum and maturity dates 
ranging from March 2020 to October 2021 (2016: February 2017 to November 2018). The fair value of these securities are 
based on brokers’ price quotations on the last market day of the financial year. 
 
The Group’s available-for-sale financial assets are denominated in Singapore dollar.  
 
 

19. Trade and other receivables 
 

 Group Company 

 2017 2016 2017 2016

 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Non-current  

Third parties trade receivables  16,797 - - - 
  

Current  

Third parties trade receivables 46,318 50,982 - - 

Less: Allowance for impairment (9,378) (948) - - 

 36,940 50,034 - - 
     

Amounts due from subsidiaries - - 23,094 100,576 

Amounts due from joint ventures 64,179 67,864 - - 

Deposits 6,301 1,100 - - 

Sundry receivables 21,651 10,550 - - 

Less: Allowance for impairment    

- amount due from joint ventures (62,934) - - - 

- sundry receivables (1,058) (1,536) - - 

- amounts due from subsidiaries - - (23,094) - 

 28,139 77,978 - 100,576 

Total current trade and other receivables 65,079 128,012 - 100,576 

Total trade and other receivables 81,876 128,012 - 100,576 
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19. Trade and other receivables (Continued) 

 
Trade and other receivables are denominated in the following currencies: 
 

 Group Company 

 2017 2016 2017 2016

 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Ringgit Malaysia 23,094 21,042 - 706 

Singapore dollar 19,206 2,047 - 80,411 

United States dollar 39,576 104,857 - 19,459 

Brunei dollar - 51 - - 

Others - 15 - - 

 81,876 128,012 - 100,576 
 
The Group’s trading terms with its customer are mainly on credit. The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its 
outstanding receivables to minimise credit risk. Non-current trade receivables from third parties relates to credit 
arrangement entered with customer is secured by a personal guarantee of the chairman of the customer, bearing 
interest rate of 6% per annum and to be settled in year 2020. The interest income of RM531,000 recognised in profit 
or loss was included in other income. 
 
Current trade receivables with credit period ranges from one to two months (2016: one to two months) are non-
interest bearing. Sundry receivables are repayable on demand. Included in the deposits is an amount of RM46,980 
which is paid to a related party. 
 
The Group does not have concentration of credit risks except for the non-current receivable due from a trade debtor 
in respect of sale of vessels. 
 
The age analysis of trade receivables are as follows: 

 Group 

 2017 2016

 RM’000 RM’000

Neither past due nor impaired 6,478 20,999 

1 to 3 months past due but not impaired 10,320 23,105 

Over 3 to 6 months past due but not impaired 289 728 

More than 6 months past due but not impaired 19,853 5,202 

 30,462 29,035 

More than 6 months past due and impaired 9,378 948 

 46,318 50,982 
 
Receivables that are neither past due nor impaired 
 
Trade receivables that are neither past due nor impaired are creditworthy debtors with good payment records with 
the Group. This represents approximately 14% (2016: 41%) of the Group’s trade receivables. 
 
None of the Group’s trade receivables that are neither past due nor impaired have been renegotiated during the 
financial year. 
 
Receivables that are past due but not impaired 
 
The Group has trade receivables amounting to RM30.5 million (2016: RM29.0 million) that are past due at the end of 
the reporting period but not impaired and are unsecured in nature.  
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19. Trade and other receivables (Continued) 

 
Receivables that are impaired 
 
The Group’s trade receivables that are impaired at the end of the reporting period and movement of the allowance 
accounts used to record the impairment are as follows: 
 

 Group 

 2017 2016

 RM’000 RM’000

Trade receivables - nominal amounts 9,378 948 

Less: Allowance for impairment (9,378) (948)

 - - 
   
Movements in allowance for impairment of trade receivables were as 

follows:   

Balance at beginning of financial year 948 2,384 

Charge for the financial year 8,491 164 

Allowance for trade receivables written back (2) (1,635)

Exchange difference (59) 35 

Balance at end of financial year 9,378 948 
 
Trade receivables that are individually determined to be impaired at the end of the reporting period relate to debtors 
that have difficulty in settling their debts. 
 
The receivables that are impaired are not secured by any collateral or credit enhancements. 
 
The Group’s other receivables that are impaired at the end of the reporting period and movement of the allowance 
accounts used to record the impairment are as follows: 
 

 Individually impaired 

 Group 

 2017 2016

 RM’000 RM’000

Other receivables - nominal amounts 63,992 1,536 

Less: Allowance for impairment (63,992) (1,536)

 - - 
 

 Individually impaired 

 Group Company 

 2017 2016 2017 2016

 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Movements in allowance for impairment 
of other receivables were as follows:      

Balance at beginning of financial year 1,536 904 - - 

Charge for the financial year 63,241 1,032 23,094 - 

Written off - (400) - - 

Exchange differences (785) - - - 

Balance at end of financial year 63,992 1,536 23,094 - 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 
 
 
19. Trade and other receivables (Continued) 

 
Other receivables that are individually determined to be impaired at the end of the reporting period relate to debtors 
that have difficulty in settling their debts. 
 
Other receivables that are impaired are not secured by any collateral or credit enhancements. 

 
Other receivables amounted to RM3,389,000 (2016: RM15,000) was written off during the financial year subsequent to 
the recoverability assessment made by the Group. 
 
Amounts due from subsidiaries/joint ventures 
 
The amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free, repayable on demand and are to be settled in cash. 
 
The amounts due from a joint venture are unsecured, bears interest at 7.25% (2016: 7.25%) per annum, repayable on 
demand and to be settled in cash.  

 
 
20. Inventories 

 

 Group  

   2017 2016

 RM’000 RM’000

Raw materials 21,769 25,491 

Work-in-progress 2,446,790 2,432,585 

 2,468,559 2,458,076 

Less: Work-in-progress written down (2,085,877) (59,772)

Less: Raw materials written off (639) - 

 382,043 2,398,304 

Inventories recognised as an expense in cost of sales 225,817 75,190 
 
The work-in-progress represents costs incurred for unsold vessels under construction. 
 
As a result of the market downturn and subsequent to the termination contract entered into with the respective 
shipyards as well as the intention to terminate the construction of certain vessels, the Group has carried the 
following review to determine the net realisable value of its unsold vessels. 
 
The Group has written down the value of those work-in-progress inventories of RM2,085,877,000 after consideration 
of additional construction cost to incur and financial difficulty in settling the cost to respective shipyards. Included in 
the written down of work-in-progress inventories is an amount of RM699,750,000 which the Group estimates to 
incur additional cost to complete the construction and estimate the net realisable values of those vessels with 
reference to the valuation report prepared by an independent valuer. 
 
The Group has written off the obsolete raw materials of RM639,000, which they are no longer in use, to profit or loss 
subsequent to the review. 
 
As at 31 December 2017, the net realisable value of the unsold vessels is RM360,913,000 (2016: RM2,372,813,000). 
 
As at 31 December 2017, inventories with a carrying amount of RM21.4 million (2016: RM71.5 million) are pledged for 
the Group’s borrowings. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 
 

 
21. Prepayments 
  

The prepayments mainly relate to prepaid amount for suppliers to secure the purchase of inventories and operating 
expenses. 
 
Prepayments amounting to RM114,262,000 (2016: RM19,929,000) were written off during the financial year as it 
relates to non-refundable payments made in prior years to secure inventories for construction use, which the Group 
will not take delivery of these inventories subsequent to the termination of or intention to terminate the 
construction of vessels. 
 
 

22. Due from/(to) customers on contracts 
 

 Group 

 2017 2016

 RM’000 RM’000

Construction contract costs incurred to date 436,334 709,178 

Recognised attributable profits 68,417 111,636 

 504,751 820,814 

Less: Progress billings (268,307) (362,207)

Less: Allowance for amount due from customers on contracts  (198,660) - 

 37,784 458,607 

   

Due from customers on contracts 38,484 462,398 

Due to customers on contracts (700) (3,791)

 37,784 458,607 
 
At the end of the reporting period, the Group review the recoverability of the amount due from customers on 
contracts aged more than a year. Subsequent to the review, an allowance of RM198,660,000 in respect of which the 
recovery has ceased to be probable is recognised in profit or loss. 
 
The costs incurred to date on construction contracts include the following charges made during the financial year: 

 Group 

 2017 2016

 RM’000 RM’000

Amortisation of prepaid land lease payments 162 162 

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 1,742 2,505 

Interest expense 31,627 75,436 
 
 
23. Cash and bank balances and fixed deposits 

 

 Group Company 

 2017 2016 2017 2016

 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Fixed deposits  28,677 153,003 22,939 60,508 

Cash and bank balances 195,740 148,490 288 1,003 

 224,417 301,493 23,227 61,511 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 
 
 
23. Cash and bank balances and fixed deposits (Continued) 
 

The Group’s fixed deposits mature on varying dates between 1 day to 12 months (2016: 7 days to 12 months). The 
interest rate on the fixed deposits range from 0.2% to 3.1% (2016: 0.2% to 3.1%) per annum. 

 
As at 31 December 2017, the Group has pledged RM238,000 (2016: RM62,610,000) of its fixed deposits to bankers as 
security for borrowings as disclosed in Note 28 to the financial statements and bankers' guarantees granted to the 
Group as disclosed in Note 36 to the financial statements. 
 
As at 31 December 2017, the Group and the Company has pledged RM22,939,000 (2016: RM60,508,000) of its fixed 
deposits for future payments of the multicurrency medium term notes programme. The deposits are maintained in an 
Interest Reserve Balance as required by Clause 2.1.9(ix) in the Supplemental Trust Deed dated 1 February 2016. No 
interest is earned on these amounts in the Interest Reserve Balance. 
 
Cash and bank balances and fixed deposits are denominated in the following currencies: 
 

 Group Company 

 2017 2016 2017 2016

Fixed deposits RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Ringgit Malaysia              5,738 24,121 - - 

Singapore dollar 22,939 128,882 22,939 60,508 

 28,677 153,003 22,939 60,508 
 

 Group Company 

 2017 2016 2017 2016

 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Cash and bank balances  

Ringgit Malaysia              5,699 7,281 - - 

Singapore dollar              53,812 104,488 288 1,003 

United States dollar            135,639 29,923 - - 

Euro                   295 4,563 - - 

Pound Sterling                       2 14 - - 

Japanese Yen                   293 204 - - 

Brunei dollar - 2,009 - - 

Australia dollar - 8 - - 

 195,740 148,490 288 1,003 
 

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise the following as at 
the end of the reporting period: 
 

 Group 

 2017 2016

 RM’000 RM’000

Fixed deposits 28,677 153,003 

Cash and bank balances 195,740 148,490 

 224,417 301,493 

Less: Bank overdrafts (18,217) (15,757)

Less: Restricted fixed deposits  (23,177) (123,118)

 183,023 162,618 
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24.     Asset-held-for-sale 
 

 Group 

 2017 2016

 RM’000 RM’000

Fair value    

Balance at beginning of financial year - - 

Transferred from investment properties (Note 14) 75,556 - 

Exchange differences (880) - 

Balance at end of financial year 74,676 - 
 
On 21 September 2017, the Company entered into sale and purchase agreement with a third party purchaser to 
dispose its investment properties, whose principal activities were those rental income, at a consideration of 
RM75,556,000 (equivalent to S$25,040,560). The operation was as part of the Group’s others segment. The transaction 
was completed on 9 February 2018. The sales proceeds to be used for part of loan and borrowing settlement of 
RM111,361,000 subsequent to the financial year. 
 
Details of the Group’s asset-held-for-sale transferred from investment properties are set out below: 
 

Description Location Existing use 
Tenure/ 

Unexpired term 
Approximate 

floor area (sqm) 

Office building 8 Temasek Boulevard 
#41-01 to #41-03 

Rental Leasehold with 70 years 
expiring in 2088 

938 

 
 

25. Share capital and share premium 
 
Share capital 
 

 Group and Company 

 
Number of ordinary shares 

of HK$0.10 (2016: HK$0.50) each Amount 

 2017 2016 2017 2016

 ’000 ’000 RM’000 RM’000

Authorised share capital     

Ordinary shares 4,000,000 4,000,000 163,145 815,727 

     

Issued and fully paid-up share capital     

Balance at beginning of financial year 2,103,144 2,103,144 405,962 405,962 

Capital reorganisation - - (324,770) - 

Balance at end of financial year 2,103,144 2,103,144 81,192 405,962 
 
During the financial year, the Company completed a capital reorganisation by reducing the par value of each ordinary 
shares of the Company from HK$0.50 to HK$0.10. The rationale for the capital reorganisation is to provide the 
Company with greater flexibility to issue new shares in the future for raising fund and facilitate corporate actions 
which may require the issuance of new shares. The credit amount of RM324,770,000 arising from the capital 
reorganisation was transferred to the retained earnings account of the Company. This has resulted an increase in the 
balance of the retained earnings account of the Company. No change in number of shares issued by the Company 
after the capital reorganisation. 
 
The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to one 
vote per share without restriction at meetings of the Company. All ordinary shares rank equally with regard to the 
Company’s residual assets. 
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25. Share capital and share premium (Continued) 

 
Share premium 
 

 Group Company 

 2017 2016 2017 2016

 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Balance at beginning and end of financial 
year 82,347 82,347 82,347 82,347 

 
Share premium is the amount subscribed for share capital in excess of nominal value. 

 
 
26. Treasury shares 

 

 Group and Company 

 Number of ordinary shares Amount 

 2017 2016 2017 2016

 ’000 ’000 RM’000 RM’000

Balance at beginning and end of financial year 6,678 6,678 4,097 4,097
 

The treasury shares had been used and released for share awards vested under the Nam Cheong Group 2013 Share 
Grant Plan. The difference between the average price paid to acquire treasury shares and the share grant price had 
been presented within the consolidated statement of changes in equity. 

 
 
27. Reserves 

 

 Group Company 

 2017 2016 2017 2016

 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Foreign currency translation reserve 320,986 327,787 - - 

Available-for-sale reserve (2,372) - - - 

Capital surplus - - 778,608 778,608 

 318,614 327,787 778,608 778,608 
 
The Group and Company’s reserves and the movements therein for the current and previous financial year are 
presented in the statements of changes in equity of the financial statements. 
 
The nature and purpose of each category of reserve are as follows: 
 
Foreign currency translation reserve 
 
The foreign currency translation reserve is used to record exchange differences arising from the translation of the 
financial statements of foreign operations whose functional currencies are different from that of the Group's 
presentation currency. It is also used to record the exchange differences arising from monetary items which form part 
of the Group's net investment in foreign operations. 

 
Available-for-sale reserve 
 
The available-for-sale reserve represents the gains/losses arising on financial assets classified as available-for-sale. 
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27. Reserves (Continued) 

 
Capital surplus 
 
The capital surplus represented the difference arising from the reverse takeover exercise in 2011. 
 
(Accumulated losses)/Retained earnings 
 
The (accumulated losses)/retained earnings represents all other net gains and losses and transactions with owners 
not recognised elsewhere. Retained earnings of the Group are distributable. 
 
Movements of (accumulated losses)/retained earnings of the Company are as follows: 
 

 Company 

 2017 2016

 RM’000 RM’000

Balance at beginning of financial year 58,413 19,855 

Capital reorganisation (Note 25) 324,770 - 

Total comprehensive (loss)/income for the financial year (2,899,036) 38,558 

Balance at end of financial year (2,515,853) 58,413 
 
 
28. Loans and borrowings 

 

   Group Company 

  
Maturity on
borrowings 2017 2016 2017 2016

   RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 

Short term borrowings     

Secured:       

Bank overdrafts RM-Floating rate On demand 16,516 2,268 - - 

Bank overdrafts SGD-Floating rate On demand 1,701 13,489 - - 

Project invoice financing USD-Floating rate On demand 9,122 - - - 

Project invoice financing USD-Fixed rate On demand - 588 - - 

Project invoice financing EURO-Floating rate On demand 9,098 - - - 

Project invoice financing JPY-Fixed rate On demand 4,536 - - - 

Revolving credit RM-Floating rate On demand 106,626 112,000 - - 

Revolving credit SGD-Floating rate On demand 221,161 155,036 - - 

Revolving credit USD-Floating rate On demand 154,555 333,859 - - 

Trust receipt RM-Floating rate On demand - 5,633 - - 

Term loans RM–Fixed rate 2017 30,911 - - - 

Term loans RM–Floating rate 2017 - 5,000 - - 

Term loans USD-Floating rate 2017 16,714 42,281 - - 
       

Unsecured:       

Medium term notes SGD-Fixed rate 2017 1,068,307 278,566 1,114,322 294,457 

   1,639,247 948,720 1,114,322 294,457 
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28. Loans and borrowings (Continued) 

 
 

  Group Company 

  
Maturity on
borrowings 2017 2016 2017 2016 

   RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 

Long term borrowings       

Secured:       

Project invoice financing USD-Fixed rate 2018 - 9,435 - - 

Project invoice financing EUR-Fixed rate 2018 - 4,305 - - 

Project invoice financing JPY-Fixed rate 2018 - 5,002 - - 

Revolving credit USD-Floating rate 2018 - 14,018 - - 

Term loans RM-Floating rate 2018-2020 - 26,000 - - 
       

Unsecured:       

Medium term notes SGD-Fixed rate 2018-2019 - 816,021 - 847,228 

   - 874,781 - 847,228 
 

Total borrowings       

Secured:       

Bank overdrafts   18,217 15,757 - - 

Project invoice financing   22,756 19,330 - - 

Revolving credit   482,342 594,887 - - 

Trust receipt   - 5,633 - - 

Term loans   47,625 93,307 - - 
       

Unsecured:       

Medium term notes   1,068,307 1,094,587 1,114,322 1,141,685 

   1,639,247 1,823,501 1,114,322 1,141,685 
 

Medium term notes (“MTN”) 
 
On 28 August 2013, the Company issued S$90,000,000 5% fixed rate MTN (the “Series 2 Notes”) under its 
S$200,000,000 multicurrency medium term notes programme. The Series 2 Notes matured on 28 August 2017. 
 
On 17 December 2013, the Company’s maximum aggregate principle amount of notes which may be issued under the 
multicurrency medium term notes programme has been increased from S$200,000,000 to S$600,000,000. 
 
On 26 August 2014, the Company issued S$200,000,000 5.05% fixed rate MTN (the “Series 3 Notes”) under its 
S$600,000,000 multicurrency medium term notes programme. The Series 3 Notes will mature on 26 August 2019. 
 
On 23 July 2015, the Company issued S$75,000,000 6.50% fixed rate MTN (the “Series 4 Notes”) under its 
S$600,000,000 multicurrency medium term notes programme. The Series 4 Notes will mature on 23 July 2018. 
 
The MTN are classified as debt instruments and hence are reported as liabilities. 
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28. Loans and borrowings (continued) 

 

 Group Company 

 2017 2016 2017 2016

 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000
The MTN are accounted for in the  

statements of financial position as follows:     

Balance at beginning of financial year     

- Principal of MTN 1,106,088 1,084,292 1,153,186 1,130,462 

- Unamortised transaction cost (11,501) (6,516) (11,501) (6,516)

 1,094,587 1,077,776 1,141,685 1,123,946 

Repayment (5,818) - (5,818) - 

Exchange differences (26,032) 21,373 (27,115) 22,301 

Less: Unamortised transaction costs - (12,056) - (12,056)

 1,062,737 1,087,093 1,108,752 1,134,191 

     
Interest expense recognised in 

statements of comprehensive income:     

- Principal of MTN 60,483 58,592 60,483 58,592 

- Amortised transaction cost 6,064 7,071 6,064 7,071 

 66,547 65,663 66,547 65,663 

     

Interest expense on the MTN paid:     

Paid during the financial year (60,977) (58,169) (60,977) (58,169)

     

Balance at end of financial year     

- Principal of MTN 1,073,744 1,106,088 1,119,759 1,153,186 

- Unamortised transaction cost (5,437) (11,501) (5,437) (11,501)

Amount included in loan and borrowings 1,068,307 1,094,587 1,114,322 1,141,685 
 

During the financial year, the Group received demand letters from banks, and the Company has breached the 
payment for Series 2 Notes and financial covenants as required for the MTNs. Consequently, all the non-current loans 
and borrowings have been classified as current liabilities. 
 
As disclosed in Note 39, subsequent to the financial year the Group and the Company have obtained approval from 
the loans and borrowings creditors to restructure the settlement to 7 years term loan. The restructuring is subject to 
the Singapore High Court and Malayan High Court approval. 
 
Loans and borrowings bear effective interest rates per annum ranging as follows: 
 

 Group Company 

 2017 2016 2017 2016

 % % % %

Bank overdrafts 6.25 – 7.90 4.35 - 6.25 - - 

Project invoice financing 1.90 – 2.00 1.75 – 3.80 - - 

Revolving credit 3.86 – 5.72 3.55 – 5.98 - - 

Term loans 3.83 – 4.79 3.46 – 4.79 - - 

Medium term notes 5.00 – 6.50 5.00 – 6.50 5.00 – 6.50 5.00 – 6.50 
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28. Loans and borrowings (continued) 
 

The remaining maturities of the loans and borrowings as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: 
 

 Group Company 

 2017 2016 2017 2016 

 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 

On demand or within one financial year 1,639,247 948,720 1,114,322 294,457 
More than 1 financial year and less than 2 

financial years - 267,456 - 227,891 
More than 2 financial years and less than 5 

financial years - 607,325 - 619,337 

5 financial years or more - - - - 

 1,639,247 1,823,501 1,114,322 1,141,685 
 

The borrowings are secured by the following: 
 
(i)  all monies facilities agreement between the banks and certain subsidiaries; 
(ii)  existing facility agreement, legal assignment of all the rights, interest title and benefits in respect of vessels 

financed by the banks and two party Master Deed of Assignment of contract proceeds; 
(iii)  first, second, third and fourth legal charge over prepaid land leases; 
(iv) fixed deposits; 
(v)  certain properties and assets of the Group as disclosed in Note 12, Note 14 and Note 24 to the financial 

statements; and 
(vi)  corporate guarantee by the Company. 

 
 
29. Deferred tax liabilities 

 

 Group 

 2017 2016

 RM’000 RM’000

Balance at beginning of financial year 1,480 1,478 

Recognised in profit and loss (1,258) - 

Exchange differences (2) 2 

Balance at end of financial year 220 1,480 
 

Deferred tax liabilities of the Group 
 

 Accelerated capital allowances 

 2017 2016

 RM’000 RM’000

Balance at beginning of financial year 1,480 1,478 

Recognised in profit and loss  (1,258) - 

Exchange differences (2) 2 

Balance at end of financial year 220 1,480 
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29. Deferred tax liabilities (Continued) 

 
As at 31 December 2017, the aggregate amount of temporary differences associated with undistributed earnings of the 
subsidiaries for which deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised is RM30,786,000 (2016: RM77,677,000). No 
deferred tax is recognised in respect of the differences with the subsidiaries and joint ventures as the Group is in a 
position to control the timing of the reversal of temporary differences and it is probable that such differences will not 
reverse in the foreseeable future. The deferred tax liability arising from taxable temporary differences associated with 
the investment in an associate is not recognised as the amount is insignificant to the financial statements. 
 
 

30. Trade and other payables 
 

 Group Company 

 2017 2016 2017 2016 

 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 

Non-current     

 Sundry payables 2,582 2,637 - - 

  

Current     

Trade payables     

 Third parties 1,074,128 824,398 - - 

     

Current     

Other payables     

 Accruals 3,315 4,488 2,190 1,750 

 Deposits 6,287 59,907 - - 

 Amounts due to subsidiaries - - - 4,743 

 Sundry payables 7,480 9,870 - - 

Goods and services tax payables 4,838 - - - 

Interest payables 2,281 - - - 

Dividend payables 146 - 146 - 

 24,347 74,265 2,336 6,493 

Current, total 1,098,475 898,663 2,336 6,493 

Total trade and other payables 1,101,057 901,300 2,336 6,493 
 

Trade and other payables are denominated in the following currencies: 
 

 Group Company 

 2017 2016 2017 2016 

 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 

Ringgit Malaysia 29,605 26,747 1,311 - 

Singapore dollar 10,117 5,582 1,021 6,493 

United States dollar 1,061,152 868,878 4 - 

Euro 164 86 - - 

Others 19 7 - - 

 1,101,057 901,300 2,336 6,493 
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30. Trade and other payables (Continued) 
 

(a) Trade payables 
 
Trade payables are non-interest bearing and the normal trade credit term granted to the Group ranges from 
30 to 60 days (2016: 30 to 60 days). 
 

(b) Sundry payables 
 
These amounts are non-interest bearing. Sundry payables are normally settled on an average term of six 
months (2016: average term of six months). 
 
The non-current sundry payables, which constitute a government grant, is related to payable to the 
Government of Malaysia (“Government”) for the Group’s leasehold land which may be waived subject to the 
satisfaction of certain conditions. 
 

(c) Amount due to subsidiaries 
 
The amounts due to subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free, repayable on demand and are to be settled in 
cash. 
 
 

31. Provisions 
 

 

Provision for 
maintenance 

warranties

Provision for 
financial 

guarantee Total 

 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Group    

Balance at beginning of financial year 200 - 200 

Provision made - 32,380 32,380 

Provision no longer required (200) - (200)

Balance at end of financial year - 32,380 32,380 

   

Company   
Provision made, representing balance at end of financial 

year - 484,400 484,400 
 
Provision for maintenance warranties is recognised for expected warranty claims on vessels sold during the last two 
financial years, based on past experience of the level of repairs. It is expected that most of these costs will be 
incurred in the next financial year and all will have been incurred within one financial year after the completion 
date. Assumptions used to calculate the provision for warranties were based on technical estimates of the cost 
required to be incurred for repairs, replacements material cost, servicing, past experience and recent trend analysis 
based on the 12 months defect warranties for its vessels. 
 
Provision for financial guarantee relates to financial guarantee provided to subsidiaries and joint venture as 
disclosed in Note 36. 
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32. Significant related party disclosures 

 
In addition to the related party information disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, the following were 
significant related party transactions at rates and terms agreed between the parties during the financial year: 
 

 Group Company 

 2017 2016 2017 2016 

 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 

Subsidiaries     

- Interest charge - - 61,295 63,160 

- Dividends - - - 37,395 

- Payment on behalf of the Company - - 522 1,191 

- Payment on behalf by the Company - - 148,228 4,861 

- Advances to subsidiaries - - 121,576 244,782 

     

Joint venture(1)     

- interest income 1,643 - - - 

     

Associate     

- deposit forfeited 3,072 - - - 

     
Other related parties in which directors/ 

key management have interest     

- purchases(2) 367 584 - - 

- rental expense 169 - - - 
 

The sales and purchases of vessels were made according to the prices and conditions similar to those offered to the 
major customers of the Group. 
 
(1) As at 31 December 2017, the outstanding amount receivable from joint ventures was approximately RM64,179,000 

(2016: RM67,864,000). 
 
(2) Mr Tiong Chiong Soon, a key executive of the Company and the son of Tan Sri Datuk Tiong, has a direct interest of 

more than 30% in Top Line Works (2008) Sdn. Bhd. (“TOP”). During the financial year, Nam Cheong Dockyard 
Sdn. Bhd. (“NCD”), a subsidiary of the Company, purchased shipbuilding materials from TOP. As at 31 December 
2017, the outstanding amount was approximately RM63,600 (2016: RM88,512). 

 
The remuneration of Directors and other members of key management during the financial year are as follows: 
 

 Group 

 2017 2016

 RM’000 RM’000

Short-term employee benefits 7,549 14,367 

Post-employment benefits 121 653 

 7,670 15,020 
 



NOTES TO THE 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2017

NAM CHEONG LIMITED
118

NAM CHEONG LIMITED 
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
 

Page 73

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 
 
 
32. Significant related party disclosures (continued) 
 

Compensation of key management personnel 
 
These include the following Directors’ remuneration: 
 

 Group 

 2017 2016

 RM’000 RM’000

Directors of the Company 4,016 5,790 

Directors of subsidiaries 37 2,114 

 4,053 7,904 
 
 

33. Commitments  
 
33.1 Capital commitments 

 
Capital expenditure contracted for as at the end of the reporting period but not recognised in the financial 
statements are as follows: 
 

 Group 

 2017 2016

 RM’000 RM’000

Contracted and approved amount, representing capital commitments in 
respect of:    

- property, plant and equipment 3,604 3,604 

- vessel equipment 210,531 317,493 

 214,135 321,097 
 

33.2 Operating lease commitments - as lessee 
 
In addition to the prepaid land lease payments disclosed in Note 13 to the financial statements, the Group has 
entered into operating leases for office premises. These leases have an average tenure of between one and 
three financial years with options to renew. 
 
Future minimum rentals payable under non-cancellable operating leases (excluding prepaid land lease 
payments) at the reporting date are as follows: 
 

 Group 

 2017 2016

 RM’000 RM’000

Within one financial year 454 263 

After one financial year but within five financial years 642 573 

 1,096 836 
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33. Commitments (continued) 

 
33.3 Operating lease commitments - as lessor 

 
With reference to the investment properties disclosed in Note 14 to the financial statements, the Group lease 
out its investment properties to third parties under non-cancellable operating leases. These leases have an 
average tenure of between one and two financial years with options to renew. The investment properties 
have been reclassified to asset-held-for-sale during the current financial year (Note 24) and subsequently the 
sale of the properties was completed on 9 February 2018. 

 
Future minimum rentals receivables under non-cancellable operating leases at the reporting date are as 
follows: 
 

 Group 

 2017 2016

 RM’000 RM’000

Within one financial year 387 3,607 

After one financial year but within five financial years - 4,098 

 387 7,705 
 

 
34. Fair value of assets and liabilities 

 
34.1 Fair value of financial instruments that are measured at fair value 

 
The Group classifies fair value measurement using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of the 
inputs used in making the measurements. The fair value hierarchy has the following levels: 
 
Level 1: quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. 
Level 2: other techniques for which all inputs that have a significant effect on the recorded fair value are 

observable, either directly or indirectly. 
Level 3: techniques that use inputs that have a significant effect on the recorded fair value that are not 

based on observable market data. 
 

 

Quoted prices 
in active

markets for
identical

instruments
(Level 1) 

Significant
other

observable
inputs

(Level 2) 

Significant 
unobservable 

inputs 
(Level 3) Total 

 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 

Group     

2017     

Financial assets     

Available-for-sale financial assets - 3,226 - 3,226 

     

2016     

Financial assets     

Available-for-sale financial assets - 35,158 - 35,158 
 

There had been no transfers between level of fair value measurements during the financial year ended 31 
December 2016 and 2017. 
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34. Fair value of assets and liabilities (continued) 

 
34.2 Fair value of financial instruments by class that are not measured at fair value 

 
The Group’s and the Company’s financial assets and financial liabilities include cash and cash equivalents, 
trade and other receivables, trade and other payables, loans and borrowings. 
 
The carrying amount of these financial assets and liabilities are a reasonable approximation of fair values, 
either due to their short-term nature or that they are floating rate instruments that are re-priced to market 
interest rates on or near the end of the reporting period. 
 
The following are classes of financial instruments that are not carried at fair value and whose carrying 
amounts are reasonable approximation of fair value due to the insignificant impact on discounting: 
 
 Note 
 
Trade and other receivables 19 
Fixed deposits 23 
Cash and bank balances 23 
Trade and other payables 30 
Loans and borrowings 28 
 
The non-current portion of financial instruments: 
 

 Fair value 

 
Carrying 
amount Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

2017   

Group   

Financial assets   

  Non-current trade receivables 16,797 - - 16,797 

   

Financial liabilities   

  Loan and borrowings - - - - 

  Trade and other payables 2,582 - - 2,582 

 19,379 - - 19,379

   

Company   

Financial liabilities   

  Loan and borrowings - - - - 

   

2016   

Group   

Financial liabilities   

  Loan and borrowings 874,781 - - 874,781

  Trade and other payables 2,637 - - 2,637 

 877,418 - - 877,418 

   

Company   

Financial liabilities   

  Loan and borrowings 847,228 - - 847,228
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34. Fair value of assets and liabilities (Continued) 

 
34.2 Fair value of financial instruments by class that are not measured at fair value (Continued) 

 
The fair values of non-current financial assets and non-current liabilities are estimated by discounting 
expected future cash flows at market incremental lending rate for similar types of lending, borrowing or 
leasing arrangements at the reporting date and considered level 3 fair value measurements. Significant inputs 
to the valuations include adjustments to the discount rate for credit risk associated with the Company. The 
carrying amounts of the non-current portion of financial assets and liabilities are reasonable approximations 
of their fair values due to the insignificant impact of discounting. 

 
34.3 Categories of financial instruments carried at amortised cost 

 
The following table sets out the financial instruments carried at amortised cost as at the end of the reporting 
period: 
 

 Group Company 

 2017 2016 2017 2016 

 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 

Financial assets     

Loans and receivables 339,464 429,505 23,227 162,087 

     

Financial liabilities     
Other financial liabilities, at amortised 

cost 2,735,466 2,724,801 1,116,658 1,148,178 
 
 

35. Financial risk management objectives and policies 
 
The Group’s financial risk management policy seeks to ensure that adequate financial resources are available for the 
development of the Group’s businesses whilst managing its credit risk, liquidity risk, interest rate risk and foreign 
currency risk. 
 
The Board of Directors reviews and agrees policies and procedures for the management of these risks, which are 
executed by the Chief Financial Officer. 
 
It is, and has been throughout the current and previous financial year, the Group’s policy that no trading in 
derivatives for speculative purpose be undertaken. 
 
There has been no change to the Group’s exposure to these financial risks or manner in which it manages and 
measures the risks. 
 
The following sections provide details regarding the Group’s exposure to the above-mentioned financial risks and 
the objectives, policies and processes for the management of these risks. 
 
35.1 Credit risk 

 
Credit risk is the risk of loss that may arise on outstanding financial instruments should a counterparty default 
on its obligations. The Group’s exposure to credit risk arises primarily from trade and other receivables, 
available-for-sale financial assets and cash and cash equivalents. 
 
The Group’s objective is to seek continual revenue growth while minimising losses incurred due to increased 
credit risk exposure. 



NOTES TO THE 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2017

NAM CHEONG LIMITED
122

NAM CHEONG LIMITED 
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
 

Page 77

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 
 
 
35. Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued) 

 
35.1 Credit risk (Continued) 

 
The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade receivables. The Group trades only with recognised 
and creditworthy third parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers who wish to trade on credit terms 
are subject to credit verification procedures. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing 
basis. Since the Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third parties, there is no requirement for 
collateral. 
 
Trade receivables that are neither past due nor impaired are substantially companies with good collection 
track record with the Group. The Group’s historical experience in the collection of receivables falls within the 
recorded allowances. 
 
The credit risk of the Group’s other financial assets, which comprise available-for-sale financial assets and 
cash and cash equivalents, arises from default of the counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to the 
carrying amount of these financial assets. 
 
Financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired 
 
Information regarding trade receivables that are neither past due nor impaired is disclosed in Note 19 to the 
financial statements. Deposits with banks are placed with or entered into with reputable financial 
institutions with high credit ratings and no history of default.  
 
Financial assets that are either past due or impaired 
 
Information regarding trade receivables that are either past due or impaired is disclosed in Note 19 to the 
financial statements. 
 
Credit risk from balances with banks is managed by the Group’s finance department in accordance with the 
Group’s policy. Investments of surplus funds are made only with reputable or bank with high credit ratings 
banks. The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk for the components of the statement of financial 
position at 31 December 2017 and 2016 are the carrying amounts as disclosed in Note 19 to the financial 
statements. 
 

35.2 Liquidity risk 
 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting financial obligations due to 
shortage of funds. The Group’s exposure to liquidity risk arises primarily from mismatches of the maturities of 
financial assets and liabilities. 
 
The Group’s liquidity risk management policy is to maintain sufficient liquid financial assets and standby 
credit facilities with the principal bankers. At the reporting date, 100% (2016: 52%) of the Group’s loans and 
borrowings will mature in less than one financial year based on the carrying amount reflected in the financial 
statements. 
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35. Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued) 

 
35.2 Liquidity risk (Continued) 

 
Analysis of the financial instruments by remaining contractual maturities: 
 
The following table summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s and the Company’s financial liabilities at 
the reporting date based on contractual undiscounted repayment obligations: 
 

 

Within one 
financial 

year

After one 
financial
year but 

within five 
financial years

Over five 
financial years Total

 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Group  

2017  

Financial liabilities  

Non-interest bearing  

- Trade and other payables 1,088,327 2,582 - 1,090,909

Interest bearing  

- Loans and borrowings 1,727,572 - - 1,727,572

Total undiscounted financial liabilities 2,815,899 2,582 - 2,818,481

  

Financial corporate guarantee  32,380 - - 32,380
 

 

Group  

2016  

Financial liabilities  

Non-interest bearing  

- Trade and other payables 838,756 2,637 - 841,393

Interest bearing  

- Loans and borrowings 992,736 924,496 - 1,917,232

Total undiscounted financial liabilities 1,831,492 927,133 - 2,758,625
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35. Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued) 

 
35.2 Liquidity risk (Continued) 

 
Analysis of the financial instruments by remaining contractual maturities: (Continued) 
 

 

Within one 
financial 

year

After one 
financial

year but within 
five financial 

years
Over five 

financial years Total

 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Company    

2017    

Financial liabilities     

Non-interest bearing     

- Trade and other payables 2,336 - - 2,336 

Interest bearing     

- Loans and borrowings 1,151,999 - - 1,151,999 

Total undiscounted financial liabilities 1,154,335 - - 1,154,335 

     

Financial corporate guarantee 484,400 - - 484,400 

    

2016    

Financial liabilities     

Non-interest bearing     

- Trade and other payables 6,493 - - 6,493 

Interest bearing     

- Loans and borrowings 309,585 1,032,954 - 1,342,539 

Total undiscounted financial liabilities 316,078 1,032,954 - 1,349,032 
 
The disclosed amounts for the financial guarantee contracts in Note 36 to the financial statements represent 
the maximum amount of issued financial guarantees in the earliest time period for which the guarantees 
could be called upon in the contractual maturity analysis. 
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35. Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued) 

 
35.3 Interest rate risk 

 
Interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of 
changes in market interest rates. Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial 
instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market interest rates. As the Group has no significant interest-
bearing financial assets, the Group’s income and operating cash flows are substantially independent of 
changes in market interest rates. The Group’s interest-bearing financial assets are mainly short term in 
nature and have been mostly placed in fixed deposits. 
 
The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from interest-bearing borrowings. Borrowings at floating rates 
expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk. Borrowings obtained at fixed rates expose the Group to fair 
value interest rate risk. The Group manages its interest rate exposure by maintaining a mix of fixed and 
floating rate borrowings. 
 
The Group’s borrowings at variable rates are denominated in United States dollar, Ringgit Malaysia and 
Singapore dollar. If the interest rates increase/decrease by 25 (2016: 25) basis points, with all other variables 
including tax rate being held constant, the loss will be lower/higher by approximately RM4,098,000 for the 
financial year ended 31 December 2017 (2016: RM4,558,000) as a result of higher/lower interest expense on 
borrowings. The assumed movement in basis points for interest rate sensitivity analysis is based on the 
currently observable market environment. 
 

35.4 Foreign currency risk 
 
Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in foreign exchange rates. 
 
The Group is exposed to transactional currency risk primarily through sales and purchases that are 
denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of the operations to which they relate. The 
currencies giving rise to this risk are primarily United States dollar (USD), Singapore dollar (SGD), Norwegian 
Kroner (NOK), Euro (EUR), Pound Sterling (GBP), Brunei dollar (BND), Japanese Yen (JPY) and Renminbi (RMB). 
 
The Group monitors its foreign currency exchange risks closely and maintains funds in various currencies to 
minimise currency exposure due to timing differences between sales and purchases. Currency translation risk 
arises when commercial transactions, recognised assets and liabilities and net investment in foreign 
operations are denominated in a currency that is not the entity’s functional currency. It is not the Group’s 
policy to take speculative positions in foreign currencies. 
 
Approximately 72% and 97% (2016: 84% and 97%) of the Group’s trade and other receivables and trade and 
other payables balances are denominated in foreign currencies. The Group's sales and purchases at the 
reporting date have similar exposures. 
 
The Group also holds cash and cash equivalents denominated in foreign currencies for working capital 
purposes. At the reporting date, such foreign currency balances amount to RM213.0 million (2016: RM270.1 
million). 
 
Exposure to foreign currency risk is monitored on an ongoing basis in accordance with the Company’s risk 
management policies to ensure that the net exposure is at an acceptable level. 
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35. Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued) 

 
35.4 Foreign currency risk (Continued) 

 
The Group is also exposed to currency translation risk arising from its net investments in Labuan and foreign 
operations, including Singapore and Marshall Islands. The Group’s net investments in Singapore and Marshall 
Islands are not hedged as currency positions in SGD and USD are considered to be long-term in nature. 
 
Sensitivity analysis for foreign currency risk based on monetary assets and liabilities: 
 
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity of the Group’s profit before income tax to a reasonably 
possible change in the SGD, USD, EUR, BND and JPY exchange rates against the respective functional currencies 
of the Group entities, with all other variables held constant. 
 

  Profit before income tax 

  2017 2016

Group  RM’000 RM’000

SGD/RM Strengthened by 4% (2016: 5%) (45,915) (101,163)

 Weakened by 4% (2016: 5%) 45,915 101,163 

    

USD/RM Strengthened by 3% (2016: 5%) (33,865) (60,515)

 Weakened by 3% (2016: 5%) 33,865 60,515 

    

EUR/RM Strengthened by 6% (2016: 5%) (562) 9 

 Weakened by 6% (2016: 5%) 562 (9)

    

BND/RM Strengthened by 4% (2016: 5%) - 104 

 Weakened by 4% (2016: 5%) - (104)

    

JPY/RM Strengthened by 1% (2016: 5%) (11) (337)

 Weakened by 1% (2016: 5%) 11 337 

    

Company    
    

SGD/RM Strengthened by 4% (2016: 5%) (41,714) (51,073)

 Weakened by 4% (2016: 5%) 41,714 51,073 

    

USD/RM Strengthened by 3% (2016: 5%) - 1,051 

 Weakened by 3% (2016: 5%) - (1,051)
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35. Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued) 

 
35.5 Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities 

 

 Company 

 2017 2016 

 RM’000 RM’000 

Gross amount of recognised financial assets   

- Amount due from subsidiaries 1,358,952 243,419 

Gross amount of recognised financial liabilities set off   

- Amount due to subsidiaries (11,314) (142,843)

Less: Allowance for impairment (1,347,638) - 
Net amount of financial assets presented in the statement of financial 

position - 100,576 
 

35.6 Capital management  
 
The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains healthy capital ratios 
in order to support its business and maximise shareholder value. 
 
The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic 
conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to 
shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. Apart from disclosed in Note 4 to the 
financial statements, no changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes during the financial year 
ended 31 December 2017. 
 
The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is loans and borrowings divided by total capital. 
Capital includes equity attributable to the owners of the parent. 
 

  Group 

 Note 2017 2016

  RM’000 RM’000

Loans and borrowings 28 1,639,247 1,823,501 

Equity attributable to the owners of the parent, representing 
total capital  (1,660,411) 1,368,813 

Gearing ratio (times)  n.m. 1.33 
 
As at 31 December 2017, the gearing ratio is not meaningful (“n.m.”) as the Group’s total capital is in negative 
position. 
 
Collateral 
 
The Group has pledged part of its short-term deposits in order to fulfil the collateral requirements for the 
derivatives in place. At 31 December 2016 and 2017, the fair values of the short-term deposits pledged were 
RM123,118,000 and RM23,177,000 respectively. The counterparties have an obligation to return the short-term 
deposits to the Group. There are no other significant terms and conditions associated with the use of 
collateral. 
 
The Group did not hold any third party collateral at 31 December 2016 and 2017. 
 
The Group and the Company are not in compliance with externally imposed capital requirements relating to 
financial covenants on its borrowings for the financial year ended 31 December 2017 (2016: in compliance with 
externally imposed capital requirements). 
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36. Financial guarantees and contingent liabilities 

 
As at 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016, the Company had given guarantees amounting to RM4,113.1 million and 
RM5,100.6 million respectively to certain banks in respect of banking facilities granted to the subsidiaries and joint 
ventures. 
 
As disclosed in Note 28 to the financial statements, the Company has defaulted on payment of MTN of RM111.1 million 
(2016: RM Nil) and also the subsidiaries and joint ventures have defaulted on the banking facilities which were 
guaranteed by the Company. Consequently, the Group and the Company have recognised a provision of RM32.4 
million and RM484.4 million respectively (Note 31) (2016: RM Nil) for the net liabilities of the subsidiaries and joint 
ventures which it is obliged to settle with the banks due to the guarantees as mentioned above. 
 
 

37. Segment information 
 
For management purposes, the group is organised into business units based on their products and services and has 
two reportable segments as follows: 
 
(i) Shipbuilding; and 
(ii) Vessel chartering. 
 
Except as indicated above, no operating segments have been aggregated to form the above reportable operating 
segments. 
 
Management monitors the operating results of its business units separately for the purpose of making decisions 
about resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance is evaluated based on operating profit 
or loss and is measured consistently with operating profit or loss in the consolidated financial statements. However, 
group financing (including finance costs and finance income) and income taxes are managed on a group basis and 
are not allocated to operating segments. 
 
Transfer prices between operating segments are on an arm’s length basis in a manner similar to transactions with 
third parties. 
 
Income taxes are managed by the management of respective entities within the Group. 

 
The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same of those described in the summary of significant 
accounting policies. There is no asymmetrical allocation to reportable segments. Management evaluates performance 
on the basis of profit or loss from operation before tax expense. 
 
Inter segment sales and transfers are carried out on arm’s length basis. 
 
Segment results, assets and liabilities include items directly attributable to a segment as well as those that can be 
allocated on a reasonable basis. Unallocated items mainly comprise corporate assets and expenses. 
 
Segment assets consist primarily of property, plant and equipment, inventories, receivables and operating cash, and 
exclude income tax recoverable and deferred tax assets. Segment liabilities comprise operating liabilities and exclude 
items such as income tax payable and deferred tax liabilities. 
 
Segment additions to non-current assets is the total cost incurred during the financial year to acquire segment assets 
that are expected to be used for more than one financial year. 
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37. Segment information (Continued) 

 

 Shipbuilding Chartering Others Eliminations Total

 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Group      

2017      

Revenue      

External revenue 239,379 80,199 - - 319,578 

Inter segment - 82,862 - (82,862) - 

      

Results      

Operating loss (2,504,534) (278,357) (110,760) - (2,893,651)

Interest income 996 708 3,740 - 5,444 
Depreciation of property, plant and 

equipment (2,021) (16,281) (912) - (19,214)

Depreciation of investment properties - - (930) - (930)
Amortisation of prepaid land lease 

payments - (108) - - (108)
Allowance for trade and other 

receivables (4,279) (19,759) (47,694) - (71,732)

Inventories written down (2,085,877) - - - (2,085,877)
Prepayments for inventories written 

off (105,899) - - - (105,899)
Impairment on investment in an 

associate (5,237) - - - (5,237)
Impairment on property, plant and 

equipment (107,303) (239,464) - - (346,767)
Contract termination expenses 

relating to prepayments for 
inventories (8,363) - - - (8,363)

Impairment on amount due from 
customers on contracts (198,660) - - - (198,660)

Inventories written off (639) - - - (639)

Finance costs (60,440) (7,868) (5,083) - (73,391)

Share of results of joint ventures - - (4,936) - (4,936)
Share of loss on investment in 

associate - - (46,610) - (46,610)

Loss before income tax (2,622,989) (285,240) (110,359) - (3,018,588)

      

Additions to non-current assets 741 2,181 - - 2,922 

Investment in joint ventures - - 4,041 - 4,041 

Available-for-sale financial assets - - 3,226 - 3,226 

Segment assets 3,608,125 423,666 1,285,022 (4,203,650) 1,113,163 

Segment liabilities 5,024,956 720,316 1,450,045 (4,421,933) 2,773,384 
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37. Segment information (Continued) 

 

 Shipbuilding Chartering Others Eliminations Total

 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Group      

2016      

Revenue      

External revenue 121,933 48,491 - - 170,424 

Inter segment 55,253 32,369 - (87,622) - 

      

Results      

Operating profit/(loss) 1,942 (7,435) (13,988) - (19,481)

Interest income 1,746 3,211 22 - 4,979 
Depreciation of property, plant and 

equipment (1,509) (18,426) (953) - (20,888)

Depreciation of investment properties - - (1,298) - (1,298)
Amortisation of prepaid land lease 

payments - (108) - - (108)
Allowance for trade and other 

receivables (1,033) (163) - - (1,196)

Inventories written down (59,772) - - - (59,772)
Prepayments for inventories written 

off (19,929) - - - (19,929)
Impairment on investment in an 

associate (3,445) - - - (3,445)
Impairment on property, plant and 

equipment (3,554) - - - (3,554)

Finance costs (6,086) (6,057) (3,320) - (15,463)

Share of results of joint ventures - - 6,593 - 6,593 
Share of loss on investment in 

associate - - (14,271) - (14,271)

Profit/(Loss) before income tax (4,161) (11,527) (26,934) - (42,622)

      

Additions to non-current assets 40 40 7 - 87 

Investment in joint ventures - - 10,957 - 10,957 

Available-for-sale financial assets - - 35,158 - 35,158 

Investment in an associate - - 74,840 - 74,840 

Segment assets 3,238,496 531,243 326,892 - 4,096,631 

Segment liabilities 1,565,444 62,482 1,100,866 - 2,728,792 
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37. Segment information (Continued) 

 
For management purposes, the revenue and non-current assets are grouped into the country or region that exhibit 
similar economic environment. Revenue and non-current assets information based on the geographical location of 
customers and assets respectively are as follows: 
 

 Group 

 2017 2016

 RM’000 RM’000

Malaysia 67,502 37,480 

China 70,035 49,150 

Marshall Islands 6,385 78,787 

Nigeria 59,757 - 

Thailand 115,899 5,007 

 319,578 170,424 
 
The Group trades with countries shown above. In presenting information on the basis of geographical segments, 
segment revenue is based on the countries in which customers are invoiced. 
 

 Group 

 2017 2016

 RM’000 RM’000

Non-current assets   

Malaysia 248,673 496,646 

Singapore 71,841 117,835 

 320,514 614,481 
 
Non-current assets information presented above consist of the following items as presented in the consolidated 
statement of financial position. 
 

 Group 

 2017 2016

 RM’000 RM’000

Property, plant and equipment 268,703 428,497 

Prepaid land lease payments 7,133 7,403 

Investment properties - 92,784 

Investment in joint ventures 4,041 10,957 

Investment in an associate 23,840 74,840 

Trade and other receivables 16,797 - 

 320,514 614,481 
 
Major customers 
 
The revenues from three (2016: three) customers of the Group’s shipbuilding segment represent approximately 
RM238,508,000 (2016: RM121,933,000) of the Group’s total revenues. 
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38. Outstanding arbitration 

 
Since the previous financial year, Nam Cheong International Ltd, a subsidiary of the Group, has been the plaintiff in 
the two legal cases brought to court against the respective defendants. 
 
In the first case, the subsidiary is claiming rightful forfeiture of vessel deposits previously paid by the defendant due 
to the defendant’s failure to pay the 2nd tranche of the deposit and balance purchase price of the vessel. The 
counterclaim by the defendant amounted to RM4,890,000. The case was closed during the financial year without any 
financial impact. 
 
In the second case, the subsidiary is claiming rightful forfeiture of vessel deposits previously paid by the defendant 
due to wrongful termination of vessel sales contract by failing to take delivery of the vessel and pay the balance 
purchase price of the vessel. The counterclaim by the defendant amounted to RM37,682,000. In the event that the 
subsidiary loses the second legal case, there is contingent liabilities of RM37,682,000, excluding legal costs which 
have not been included in the financial statements. In the opinion of the management, which is supported by legal 
advice, an unfavourable outcome appears remote for the second case, subject to the inherent uncertainty of 
litigation. 

 
 
39. Events subsequent to the reporting date 

 
a) Approving of Schemes of Arrangement with creditors 

 
As disclosed in Note 4 to the financial statements relating to going concern and the Schemes of Arrangement 
with the Group’s and the Company’s creditors, the Group and the Company have obtained their creditors’ 
approval for the Schemes on 22 January 2018 and 24 January 2018 respectively. The Group and the Company have 
applied to The High Court of the Republic of Singapore and The High Court of Malaya to the sanction of the 
Schemes.  
 
Once the Scheme is approved by the Court and becomes effective, the Group’s and the Company’s loans and 
borrowings of RM1,639,247,000 and RM1,114,322,000 would be repaid over 4 to 7 years from the effective date. 

 
b) Termination agreement 

 
On 7 February 2018, the Group entered into a Master Framework Agreement (“MFA”) with certain shipyards to 
terminate shipbuilding contracts and restructure its debt settlement arrangement. The Company’s obligations 
under the MFA are subject to the sanction of the NCL Scheme by Singapore Court and the effectiveness of the NCL 
Scheme. 
 
Once the MFA becomes effective, the Group’s trade payables amounting to RM558,202,000 will be waived and 
an amount of RM139,121,000 will be paid over 5 years from effective date. 

 
c) Placement share and dilution of interest in a subsidiary 

 
On 11 April 2018, the Company’s indirect wholly-owned subsidiary, Nam Cheong (Labuan) Ltd (“NCLL”) completed 
a placement share of an aggregate of 10,000 new ordinary shares at an issue price of US$1 for each placement 
share to three subscribers. The proceeds from the placement have been applied towards to partial repayment of 
the outstanding amount under a credit facility granted by a bank to NCLL. Upon the completion of the 
placement share, NCLL ceased to be a subsidiary of the Group. 
 
Upon the completion of the placement share, the Group’s net tangible liabilities will be decreased by 
approximately RM22,681,000.  




